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Vision
k1 Ventures is an investment 
company invested across  
targeted sectors including 
education, financial services  
and automotive retail. 

Mission
We strive to deliver returns to  
our shareholders through the 
utilisation of value-add strategies, 
expertise, experience and  
the proactive management  
of our investments. 
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CONFIGURED  
FOR VALUE

k1 Ventures’ drive for  
value finds expression in  
the tangram, a symbol of  
flexibility and potential.



Group Revenue

$31.6m
Group revenue from continuing 
operations was $31.6 million  
for FY 2014.

Group Net Profit  
Attributable To Shareholders

$20.1m
Group net profit from continuing 
operations attributable to  
shareholders was $20.1 million  
for FY 2014.

Earnings per share

0.93¢
Earnings per share from  
continuing operations attributable  
to shareholders was 0.93 cents  
for FY 2014.

Group Financial Highlights

2014 2013

1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Total 1Q 2Q 3Q 4Q Total

Group quarterly results ($ million)

Revenue 22.5 2.8 3.2 3.1 31.6 3.6 30.4 2.9 59.0 95.9 

EBITDA 21.5 1.6 2.1 0.3 25.5 2.1 29.2 1.7 32.6 65.6 

Operating profit 21.4 1.6 2.1 0.7 25.8 2.1 29.2 1.7 31.9 64.9 

Profit/(loss)

 Before tax 21.5 1.6 2.1 0.3 25.5 2.1 29.2 1.7 32.6 65.6

Continuing and  
discontinued operations* 18.0 0.7 2.7 (8.6) 12.8 0.8 29.4 1.4 23.0 54.6

Earnings/(loss) per share (cents)*  0.83  0.04  0.12 (0.40)  0.59  0.04  1.36  0.06  1.06  2.52 

2014 2013
Change 

(%)

For the year ($ million)

Revenue 31.6 95.9 (67.0)

Profit

 EBITDA 25.5 65.6 (61.2)

 Operating 25.8 64.9 (60.3)

 Before tax 25.5 65.6 (61.2)

 Attributable 20.1 51.6 (61.0)

Continuing and  
discontinued  
operations* 12.8 54.6 (76.6)

Operating cashflow (1.4) 58.6 NM

Per share (cents)

Basic earnings

 Before tax 1.18 3.03 (61.2)

 Attributable 0.93 2.38 (61.0)

Continuing and  
discontinued  
operations* 0.59 2.52 (76.6)

Net assets 11.8 16.2 (26.7)

Net tangible assets 11.8 11.9 (0.4)

At year-end ($ million)

Shareholders’ funds 256.5 349.9 (26.7)

Capital employed 256.5 382.0 (32.9)

Net (cash)/borrowings (70.6) 71.1 NM

Gearing (times) NM 0.19 NM

Return on  
shareholders’  
funds** (%)

Profit before tax 8.1 18.9 (57.1)

Continuing and  
discontinued 
operations* 4.1 15.7 (74.1)

NM Not meaningful
* Including discontinued operations which reflect the Group’s activities in Helm, the transportation leasing business in North America.
** Based on average shareholders’ funds. Average shareholders’ funds means the average of shareholders’ funds during the financial year.
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We are committed to continue to actively manage our investments  
to drive incremental value to our shareholders. Our efforts have  
and will continue to focus on the alignment of k1’s interests with  
those of our investment companies, and the distribution of excess  
cash upon a monetisation. 
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DEAR SHAREHolDERS,

We continue to execute on the strategy of proactively managing our 
portfolio of investments with the view to monetise when appropriate,  
and distribute excess cash to our shareholders. 

On 15 April 2014, we completed the sale of our 80.1% interest in  
Long Haul Holding Corp (Helm) for an aggregate cash consideration  
of approximately US$152 million. After deducting k1’s share of  
transaction related costs and escrow holdbacks, net cash received at 
closing was approximately US$122 million. We are pleased with the 
sale as it resulted in a gain of approximately $46.2 million prior to the 
impact from a foreign currency translation loss of $54.9 million. As 
previously reported, Helm’s operations had been negatively impacted 
by the economic downturn in the United States, which impacted the 
marketability of a significant portion of Helm’s six – axle locomotive  
fleet. Proceeds received from the sale enabled the Company to pay  
an interim dividend of 5.0 cents per share on 30 May 2014.

Total cash distributions paid to our shareholders in FY2014 was  
7.0 cents per share, which increased cumulative distributions to  
31.3 cents per share or more than $655 million since Greenstreet  
Partners L.P. assumed management responsibilities. Future dividend 
distributions are dependent upon further monetisation of investments, 
and as such we will continue to work closely with the management  
of our group of companies in an effort to enhance shareholder value. 

Group revenue for FY2014 was below the prior year due to the sale  
of our remaining shares in McMoRan Exploration Company in the prior 
year, which had provided the Group with pre-tax sales proceeds of  
$55.6 million, including the value associated with the receipt of the 
Royalty Units, and a decrease in investment income received from 
Knowledge Universe Holdings, LP (KUH). 

Guggenheim continues to execute its core strategies with a view  
to increasing assets under management which now exceed  
US$210 billion. In addition to expanding its US asset management 
platform, Guggenheim continues to seek opportunities to expand  
its global footprint. Our Preferred Units continue to deliver  
a 7% annual cash dividend. 

Our investment in KUH continues to provide the Company with 
investment income through distributions. In FY2014, we received  
a distribution-in-kind from KUH of 426,846 common shares in K12 Inc.,  
a publicly traded company in the United States. The Group’s cumulative 
invested capital in KUH was US$57 million, from which we have  
received approximately US$97 million, or 1.7 times our investment  
since inception. We account for distributions received from KUH as 
investment income, and as a result, the carrying value in our investment  
in KUH of US$4.8 million remains unchanged as compared to  
the prior year end.

KUH owns an approximate 65% interest in Knowledge Universe Education 
(KUE), a leading global education company and the largest provider 
of preschool education services in the US. The US operations have 
experienced improved operating results, and we are optimistic regarding 
the future. Our management team has committed substantial time 
and resources working alongside the KUE management team and will 
continue to do so as long as our involvement is sought.  

Cumulative Distributions

$655m
31.3 cents per share or  
$655 million since 2005.

The US operations of Knowledge Universe 
Education is improving on its performance.
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KUE’s international operations are meeting expectations and include 
brands such as Learning Vision, Learning Horizon, Pat’s School House, 
The Children’s House and Canadian International School. The Busy Bees  
business was sold in October 2013. Terms of the transaction were not 
disclosed to the public.

We are pleased that some progress has been made regarding the 
lengthy IPO process concerning China Grand Automotive, in which  
we have an indirect interest through our investment in China Auto I  
Co-Investors. China Grand Automotive has received regulatory  
approval for an IPO, although the timing of an IPO, should it happen,  
is uncertain and is subject to various uncontrollable circumstances. 
China Grand Automotive continues to scale its business and perform 
well, and we remain confident of its future prospects. 

We are committed to continue to actively manage our investments  
to drive incremental value to our shareholders. Our efforts have  
and will continue to focus on the alignment of k1’s interests  
with those of our investment companies, and the distribution  
of excess cash upon a monetisation. 

I would like to thank the Board of Directors, shareholders and the 
management of k1 for their valued efforts and continued support. 

Yours sincerely,

STEvEN JAy GREEN
Chairman and  
Chief exeCutive OffiCer
12 September 2014
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1.  China Grand Auto  
has received regulatory 
approval for an IPO.

  Future dividend 
distributions are 
dependent upon  
further monetisation  
of investments.  
We will continue  
to work with our 
companies to enhance 
shareholder value.
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STEvEN JAy GREEN, 69
CHAIrMAN ANd  
CHIEF ExECutIvE OFFICEr

Honorary doctorate degree from  
the School of Law of Florida  
International university 

Date of first appointment as a director:  
7 September 2001

Date of last re-election as a director:  
28 October 2011

Length of service as a director:  
12 years 10 months  
(as at 30 June 2014)

Board committee(s) served on:
Nil

Present directorships  
(as at 30 June 2014):
Listed companies
Nil

Other principal directorships
GFI II, L.P.; GFI III, L.P.;
Green Family Foundation (Chairman);
Greenstreet Capital Management, Inc.; 
Guggenheim International (Chairman); 
Guggenheim Capital (member of the 
Executive Committee); Knowledge 
Universe Learning Group, LLC; 
Knowledge Universe Holdings,  
LLC; KU Education, Inc. 

major appointments  
(other than directorships):
US Ambassador to the Republic  
of Singapore 1997-2001; President’s 
Export Council (Member of the 
Executive Committee & Chairman  
of Strategic Communications 
Committee); University of Miami 
(Trustee); Honorary Consul General  
of Singapore in Miami, Florida

Past directorships held  
over the preceding 5 years  
(from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2014): 
D.L. Associates, L.P.;
D.L. Enterprises, Inc.;
Knowledge Schools Inc.;
Vistage International, Inc.;
GS Maritime Holdings, LLC (CEO);
United Maritime Group  
(Chairman and CEO);
GIC Real Estate Private Limited;
Long Haul Holding Corp. 

Others:
Former Chairman and CEO  
of Samsonite Corporation;
Former Chairman of Culligan  
Water Technologies

lEE SuAN yEw, 80
INdEpENdENt dIrECtOr

MBBChir from Cambridge university,  
Fellow of the royal College of  
physicians, Glasgow 

Date of first appointment as a director: 
8 August 2002

Date of last re-election as a director:  
24 October 2013

Length of service as a director:  
11 years and 11 months  
(as at 30 June 2014)

Board committee(s) served on:
Nominating Committee (Chairman)
Remuneration Committee (Member)

Present directorships  
(as at 30 June 2014):
Listed companies
Haw Par Corporation Ltd

Other principal directorships
Nil 

major appointments  
(other than directorships):
Nil

Past directorships held  
over the preceding 5 years  
(from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2014): 
LSYPCL66 Pte Ltd

Others:
Conferred the Public Service Star  
in 1991; Conferred Public Service  
Star (Bar) in 2002; Past President  
of the Singapore Medical Council;  
Past Chairman of the National  
Medical Ethics Committee

 STEvEN JAy GREEN

 lEE SuAN yEw
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TEo SooN HoE, 65
NON-ExECutIvE dIrECtOr 

Bachelor of Business Administration, 
university of Singapore; Member of  
the Wharton Society of Fellows,  
university of pennsylvania. 

Date of first appointment as a director: 
25 January 1988

Date of last re-election as a director: 
16 October 2012

Length of service as a director:  
26 years 6 months  
(as at 30 June 2014)

Board committee(s) served on:
Audit Committee (Member)
Nominating Committee (Member)

Present directorships  
(as at 30 June 2014):
Listed companies
M1 Limited (Chairman)

Other principal directorships
Sino-Singapore Tianjin Eco-City 
Investment & Development Co Ltd.;
Singapore Tianjin Eco-City  
Investment Holdings Pte. Ltd.;  
Keppel Care Foundation Limited

major appointments  
(other than directorships):
Senior Advisor, Keppel 
Telecommunications &  
Transportation Ltd; Senior Advisor, 
Keppel Land Limited

Past directorships held  
over the preceding 5 years  
(from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2014): 
Keppel Land Limited;
Keppel Corporation Limited; 
Keppel Telecommunications & 
Transportation Ltd (Chairman);
Keppel Philippines Holdings, Inc 
(Chairman); Keppel Infrastructure  
Fund Management Pte Ltd  
(the Trustee-Manager of  
Keppel Infrastructure Trust);
Keppel Infrastructure Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.; Keppel Offshore & Marine Ltd

Others:
Former Senior Executive Director  
of Keppel Corporation Limited

 TEo SooN HoE

 AlExANDER vAHABzADEH

AlExANDER vAHABzADEH, 48
NON-ExECutIvE dIrECtOr 
 
BBA in International Business from  
George Washington university 

Date of first appointment as a director: 
16 February 2011

Date of last re-election as a director:  
24 October 2013

Length of service as a director:  
3 years 5 months  
(as at 30 June 2014)
 
Board committee(s) served on:
Nil
 
Present directorships  
(as at 30 June 2014):
Listed companies
Nil
 
Other principal directorships 
BV Global Partners Ltd.;
BV Singapore Holdings Limited;
BV Singapore Investments Limited;
BV Unified Singapore Holdings 
Limited; Peracon, Inc.;  
Uddington Business Ltd;
Arctic Cat Property S.A.

major appointments  
(other than directorships):
Co-Founder of Beaumont Partners SA 
and Beaumont Partners LLC.
 
Past directorships held  
over the preceding 5 years  
(from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2014): 
BV-NGP Equity I Ltd.; BV-NGP  
Equity II Ltd.; BV-NGP Equity III Ltd.;
BV-NGP Equity IV Ltd.; BV-NGP  
Equity V Ltd.; BV-NGP Equity VI Ltd.;
BV-NGP Finance I Ltd.; BV-NGP 
Finance II Ltd.; BV-NGP Finance III Ltd.;
BV-NGP Holdings Inc.; BV-P Holding 
I, Ltd.; SAFANAD SA; SAFANAD Limited;
SAFANAD Management Limited;
SAFANAD Master Fund GP Limited;
Willet Estates One ULC;
Willet Estates Two ULC;
HIM General Partner ULC;
HIM Limited Partner ULC;
N-HIM Sherbrooke Properties Inc.
 
Others:
Co-founder and managing partner  
of SAFANAD (2009 to March 2013)
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NEo BooN SioNG, 57
INdEpENdENt dIrECtOr 

Bachelor of Accountancy (Honours)  
from the National university of Singapore;
MBA and phd degrees from the university  
of pittsburgh, uSA; Certified public 
Accountant (Singapore) 

Date of first appointment as a director: 
16 February 2011

Date of last re-election as a director:  
24 October 2013 

Length of service as a director: 
3 years 5 months  
(as at 30 June 2014)

Board committee(s) served on:
Audit Committee (Chairman)
Nominating Committee (Member)
Remuneration Committee (Member)

Present directorships  
(as at 30 June 2014):
Listed companies
Keppel Telecommunications & 
Transportation Ltd; OUE Hospitality 
REIT Management Pte. Ltd. (the REIT 
Manager of OUE Hospitality Real Estate 
Investment Trust); OUE Hospitality  
Trust Management Pte. Ltd.  
(the Trustee-Manager of OUE  
Hospitality Business Trust)

Other principal directorships
 J. Lauritzen Singapore Pte. Ltd.

major appointments  
(other than directorships):
Professor of the Nanyang  
Business School, Nanyang 
Technological University

Past directorships held  
over the preceding 5 years  
(from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2014): 
Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation 
Limited; Keppel Offshore & Marine Ltd;
Great Eastern Holdings Limited;
The Great Eastern Life Assurance 
Company Limited; The Overseas 
Assurance Corporation Limited

Others:
Former Dean of the Nanyang Business 
School, Nanyang Technological 
University (NTU), Singapore.

ANNiE KoH, 60
INdEpENdENt dIrECtOr

Bachelor of Social Science &  
Economics (Honours) from National 
university of Singapore; M phil and  
phd in International Finance from  
New York university, uSA 

Date of first appointment as a director: 
4 January 2013

Date of last re-election as a director:  
24 October 2013

Length of service as a director:  
1 year and 6 months  
(as at 30 June 2014)

Board committee(s) served on:
Remuneration Committee (Chairman)
Audit Committee (Member)

Present directorships  
(as at 30 June 2014):
Listed companies
Nil

Other principal directorships
Nil

major appointments  
(other than directorships):
•	 Vice	President	for	Business	

Development and External  
Relations at the Singapore 
Management University (SMU); 
Associate Professor of  
Finance at SMU;

•	 Academic	Director	of	the	 
Financial Training Institute (FTI), 
Center for Professional Studies  
(CPS), International Trading Institute  
(ITI) and Business Families  
Institute (BFI) at SMU;

•	 Chairman	of	the	Asian	Bond	Fund	
2 Supervisory Committee of the 
Monetary Authority of Singapore;

•	 Member	of	the	Research	and	
Publications Committee of the 
Singapore Chinese Chamber  
of Commerce & Industry;

•	 Board	member	of	the	Central	
Provident Fund of Singapore

Past directorships held  
over the preceding 5 years  
(from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2014): 
Nil

Others:
Former Dean of the Office of  
Executive and Professional Education, 
Singapore Management University 
(SMU), Singapore (2007-2012);  
Former Associate Dean of the  
Lee Kong Chian School of Business, 
SMU, Singapore (2003 – 2010); 
Recipient of Public Administration 
Medal (Bronze) in 2010;
Director, E-Cognition Pte Ltd

 NEo BooN SioNG

 ANNiE KoH
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TAN PoH lEE PAul, 60
ALtErNAtE dIrECtOr  
tO Mr tEO SOON HOE

Fellow, Association of Chartered  
and Certified Accountants;
Associate member, Chartered Institute  
of Management Accountants 

Date of first appointment  
as alternate director:  
12 August 2014

Board committee(s) served on:
Alternate director to  
Mr Teo Soon Hoe on:
Audit Committee
Nominating Committee

Present directorships  
(as at 30 June 2014):
Listed companies
Nil

Other principal directorships
Kephinance Investment Pte Ltd

major appointments  
(other than directorships):
Nil

Past directorships held  
over the preceding 5 years  
(from 1 July 2009 to 30 June 2014): 
Abbeville Investment Pte Ltd;
Brightway Property Pte Ltd;
KV Management Pte Ltd

Others:
Group Controller,  
Keppel Corporation Limited

 TAN PoH lEE PAul
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using its wealth of 
expertise and experience,  
strong investment skill 
sets and extensive  
business relationships, 
the management team  
at k1 ventures strives  
to deliver good returns  
to the Company’s 
shareholders.

STEvEN JAy GREEN
CHAIrMAN ANd  
CHIEF ExECutIvE OFFICEr

JEFFREy AlAN SAFCHiK
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICEr ANd  
CHIEF OpErAtING OFFICEr
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The tangram is a symbol of flexibility and creativity  
in shaping possibilities. In a world of volatility,  
we continue to strive to create and enhance value  
for our shareholders. We are focused on enhancing  
the performance of our investments and realising value  
from them, through leveraging our expertise and 
experience, and working closely with the  
management of our investee companies.
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Group overview 

Continuing Operations
2014 

$ million
2013 

$ million
% Increase/

(Decrease)

Revenue 31.6 95.9 (67.0)

Net carrying value of investment disposed – (25.8) NM

Staff costs (0.2) (0.2) 11.7

Other operating expenses (5.7) (5.0) 13.0

Operating profit 25.8 64.9 (60.3)

Profit before tax 25.5 65.6 (61.2)

Profit from continuing operations 20.1 51.6 (61.0)

EBITDA* 25.5 65.6 (61.2)

Profit attributable to shareholders  
of the Company^ 12.8 54.6 (76.6)

Basic profit per share (EPS)^ (cents) 0.59 2.52 (76.6)

Return on equity (ROE)^** (%) 4.1 15.7 (74.1)

* EBItdA is defined as profit before tax, finance expenses, depreciation & amortisation  
for continuing operations.

^ Including discontinued operations.
** rOE is based on profit after tax and non-controlling interests divided by  

average shareholders’ funds.

MANAGEMENT 
DiSCuSSioN  
AND ANAlySiS

Group revenue from continuing 
operations of $31.6 million for  
the year ended 30 June 2014 
decreased by $64.3 million due  
to $55.6 million from the prior  
year sale of the Group’s investment  
in McMoRan Exploration Company 
(MMR) and a decrease in investment 
income attributable to Knowledge 
Universe Holdings (KUH) of  
$8.2 million.

Group operating profit from 
continuing operations was  
$25.8 million for the year ended  
30 June 2014 compared to  
$64.9 million in the prior year.  
The decrease was due to the  
gain of $29.8 million recognised  
in the prior year as a result  
of the sale of MMR and the  
decrease in investment income  
from KUH. Group EBITDA from 
continuing operations of  
$25.5 million was $40.2 million  
below the prior year driven by  
lower income from investments.

Group taxation from continuing 
operations of $5.3 million  
decreased $8.7 million as a result  
of the MMR sale in the prior year. 
Group profit from continuing 
operations attributable to 
shareholders was $20.1 million 
compared to $51.6 million in  
the previous year.

The results from Long Haul  
Holding Corp (Helm) were  
accounted for as discontinued 
operations. The loss from the sale  
of Helm included a foreign currency 
translation loss of $54.9 million, 
which was accounted for as  
other comprehensive expense  
prior to the sale.

Including the results from Helm, 
Group profit attributable to 
shareholders was $12.8 million  
for the year ended 30 June 2014 
compared to $54.6 million in  
the prior year, and profit per share 
was 0.59 cent.
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REviEw oF 
BAlANCE 
SHEET

Group shareholders’ funds decreased 
from $349.9 million at 30 June 2013 
to $256.5 million at 30 June 2014. 
The decrease was attributable to the 
payment of dividends to shareholders 
of $151.6 million offset in part by  
an increase in comprehensive 
income of $58.2 million, driven  
by currency translation adjustments 
of $51.1 million mainly as result  
of the sale of Helm, net profit 
attributable to shareholders of  
$12.8 million, and a downward 
revaluation of the Group’s investment 
in K12, Inc. of $6.5 million.

Group total assets of $260.2 million  
at 30 June 2014 decreased by  

$378.0 million compared to  
the previous year end. The  
decrease was primarily related  
to the above mentioned dividends 
paid to shareholders and the sale  
of Helm. Investments increased  
due to the receipt of common  
shares of K12, Inc. from KUH. 

Group total liabilities decreased  
from $256.1 million at 30 June 2013  
to $3.6 million at 30 June 2014  
as a result of the sale of Helm.  
The decrease in provision for  
taxation was due to the payment  
of US tax on the gain associated  
with the sale of the Group’s 
investment in MMR. 

CONFIGURED 
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Our portfolio of investments continue  
to perform creditably.

Education

KNowlEDGE uNivERSE  
HolDiNGS
Knowledge Universe Holdings, LLC 
(KUH) is a holding company that  
has various interests in education 
related ventures including an 
approximate 65% interest in  
Knowledge Universe Education LP,  
the Group’s global education platform. 
The Group’s 12.2% equity interest in 
KUH was acquired at a cost of 
approximately US$57 million. In 
accordance with the terms of the  
KUH operating agreement, upon  
the Group receiving cumulative 
distributions from KUH of  

approximately US$97 million,  
the Group’s interest is reduced  
to 10.2%.

During the current year, the Group 
received 426,846 common shares  
of K12, Inc. (NYSE: LRN) from KUH 
valued at approximately US$15.5 million 
on the date of the distribution, which 
was accounted for as investment 
income in the current year. The 
distribution increased cumulative  
cash and property distributions from 
KUH since inception to approximately 
US$97 million. The carrying value  
of the KUH investment remains 
unchanged from the prior year  
end of US$4.8 million.

REviEw oF 
iNvESTMENTS

1
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KnOwledge universe  
eduCatiOn
Knowledge Universe Education  
(KUE) is a leading global education 
organisation with a network of more 
than 2,000 locations worldwide, 
employing over 30,000 education 
professionals, operating early  
childhood education centres, 
international schools, colleges,  
large on-line schools and school 
management systems, which together 
touch over 200,000 students daily. 

KUE maintains its international 
headquarters in Singapore. KUE’s 
international platform encompasses 
over 50 locations in Singapore, 
Malaysia, and India primarily operating 
under the brands, Learning Vision,  
Pat’s Schoolhouse, Brighton 
Montessori, The Children’s House  
and Canadian International  
Schools (CIS Singapore). 

In October 2013, Busy Bees Holdings 
Limited (UK), a majority owned 
subsidiary of KUE, and its wholly  
owned subsidiary Just Learning Group, 
were disposed. 

In February 2014, KUE acquired the 
remaining 40% equity interest in CIS 
Singapore, thereby increasing KUE’s 
total ownership interest to 100%.

KnOwledge universe  
eduCatiOn llC
Knowledge Universe Education LLC 
(KUE LLC) is an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of KUE and is the largest 
private early childhood education 
provider in the USA. KUE LLC was 
founded in 1983 and offers early 
childhood education and care 
programs to children ranging from  
six weeks through 12 years of age.  
The services provided include infant 
and toddler care, preschool and 
kindergarten classes and before-  
and after-school programs. 

KUE LLC provides early childhood 
education and care programmes  
within the following three categories:

•	 Early	Childhood	Care	 
and Education, which  
provides services through 
approximately 1,400 centres  
with a licensed capacity  
of over 180,000 in 38 states

•	 Children’s	Creative	Learning	 
Centers which encompasses 
employer-sponsored early 
childhood care and education 
services through approximately  
100 centres and programmes  
with a combined licensed  
capacity of over 11,000  
in 22 states 

1, 2, 3.  The Canadian 
International School 
(Singapore) is well 
equipped to cater  
to the needs of  
its students.

2 3
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National Association for Education  
of Young Children.

K12, inc.
At 30 June 2014, the Group owned 
426,846 common shares of K12, Inc, 
which represents approximately 1%  
of the outstanding shares and valued  
at approximately US$10.3 million on  
30 June 2014.

K12 delivers curriculum and 
instructional tools to parents to assist 
their children with solid home-based 
supplemental education. K12’s 
programme combines online 
technology with traditional content  
and the world’s best teaching methods. 
It offers programmes in seven core 
subjects (Language Arts, Math,  
Science, History, World Languages,  
Art and Music) from kindergarten  
to year 12.

Financial SErvicES

GuGGENHEiM CAPiTAl, llC
In June 2011, the Group completed  
a US$100 million investment  
in Guggenheim Capital, LLC 

(Guggenheim), a U.S.-based, privately 
held financial services firm with  
more than US$210 billion in assets 
under management. The US$100 
million investment comprised  
100,000 Series A Preferred Units 
(“Preferred Units”), 250,000 Common 
Units, and 11,111,111 Warrants  
to acquire common units issued  
by Guggenheim.

Guggenheim provides investment 
management, investment banking  
and capital markets services  
as well as insurance and investment 
advisory solutions for institutions, 
corporations, governments and 
agencies, investment advisors,  
family offices and individuals. 

The Preferred Units, which are  
senior to all common equity  
in terms of liquidation preference, 
deliver a dividend rate of 7%  
per annum along with participation 
rights on an as-converted basis  
in common dividends in excess  
of regular periodic dividends.  
The Preferred Units may be  
redeemed by Guggenheim  

•	 School	Partnerships	which	provide	
customised before- and after-
school educational enrichment  
and recreational programmes for 
school-age and preschool children 
in partnership with elementary 
schools under the Champions 
brand. Champions offers 
approximately 400 educational 
enrichment programmes in  
16 states  

KUE LLC primarily operates under  
the brand names KinderCare  
Learning Centers, Knowledge 
Beginnings, Cambridge Schools, 
Children’s Creative Learning  
Centers, and Champions. KUE LLC’s 
community-based centres offer 
educational and enrichment 
programmes, before and after school 
programmes, summer camps and 
clubs, and academic online tutoring. 
KUE LLC also offers infant and toddler 
care, preschool and kindergarten 
classes as well as supplemental 
education services on an individual 
student basis. Over 50% of KUE  
LLC’s centres have achieved  
national accreditation by the  

1 2
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under certain circumstances at  
par value with full payment of  
any accumulated unpaid dividends.  
In addition, k1 Ventures also  
retains the right to require  
Guggenheim to repurchase  
all or any portion of the Preferred  
Units on the sixth anniversary of 
issuance, at par value with full  
payment of any accumulated  
unpaid dividends.

In connection with the Guggenheim 
investment, the Group received 
250,000 Common Units. In the 
absence of a conversion of the 
Warrants, the Common Units cannot  
be sold prior to June 2017 without  
the approval of Guggenheim.

The 11,111,111 Warrants to acquire 
common units are convertible at  
an exercise price of US$9 per unit.  

k1 Ventures may elect to convert  
the Warrants at any time, and also  
has the right to require Guggenheim  
to repurchase all or any portion  
of the Warrants at their fair market  
value on the sixth anniversary of 
issuance. The Warrants may also  
be redeemed by Guggenheim  
under certain circumstances,  
and k1 has the right to require 
Guggenheim to repurchase any 
common units issued upon  
exercise of the Warrants under  
certain circumstances at the fair  
market value of such units. 

The Group has received approximately 
US$21.1 million of scheduled  
dividends since June 2011.  
In addition, the Group has received 
supplemental special distributions  
of approximately US$1.8 million  
related to the Preferred Units. 

1, 2.  Children at play at 
one of the KinderCare 
Learning Centers,  
a brand name under 
the management of 
Knowledge Universe 
Education.

3.  Guggenheim Capital  
is headquartered in  
New York and Chicago 
and serves clients  
from 25 offices in  
nine countries.

3
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stock exchange for an initial public 
offering, the timing of which has  
yet to be determined.

othErS

CHRySCAPiTAl llC
ChrysCapital, LLC (ChrysCapital)  
is a private investment firm focused  
on growth-oriented, India-based 
companies. k1 invested in two of 
ChrysCapital’s funds, ChrysCapital II 
and ChrysCapital III, in 2000  
and 2004 respectively. 

During the current year, k1  
received a final distribution from 
ChrysCapital II and realised a return  
of 1.65 times invested capital on  
its US$3 million investment.  

To date, k1 has realised a return  
of 3.5 times invested capital on  
its US$5 million investment in  
ChrysCapital III. The majority of  
the portfolio investments within  
the fund have already been realised 
and we expect the remaining 

investments to be managed to 
maximise value in due course.

NzC GuGGENHEiM FuND
NZC Guggenheim Fund (NZC)  
is feeder fund of NZC Guggenheim 
Master Fund which is a diversified 
investment fund organized for the 
purpose of trading and investing  
in a diverse range of investment  
securities. The Group received its 
interest in NZC as a distribution  
from KUH. To date, the Group  
has received cumulative cash 
distributions from the fund totaling 
approximately US$5.8 million.

tranSportation lEaSing

On 15 April 2014, the Company  
and its wholly-owned subsidiary 
completed the transaction for  
the sale of Long Haul Holding Corp 
(Helm) for an aggregate cash 
consideration of approximately  
US$152 million. Following the 
completion of the sale, Helm ceased  
to be a subsidiary of the Company. 

The Group’s activities in Helm are 
reflected as discontinued operations. 
The loss from the sale of Helm  
included a foreign currency  
translation loss of $54.9 million,  
which was accounted for as  
other comprehensive expense  
prior to the sale.

In accordance with the terms of  
the merger agreement, the Company 
has approximately US$16 million in 
escrow as at June 30, 2014 to  
secure certain post-closing  
obligations. The amount in escrow  
is subject to different release  
triggers and release dates, but all  
funds are scheduled to be released, 
from escrow, less any amounts  
paid to the purchaser from escrow  
and any claims that are pending  
and unresolved, no later than  
18 months after the closing. 

1.  A China Grand Auto 
dealer store in Jingang, 
Beijing, China.

automotivE rEtail

CHiNA AuTo i Co-iNvESToRS llC
k1 has invested a total of  
approximately US$12.4 million  
in China Auto I Co-Investors LLC,  
a private investment vehicle  
formed to co-invest indirectly  
in China Grand Automotive  
Services Co., Ltd. 

Headquartered in Shanghai,  
China, China Grand Automotive  
is the largest auto dealership group  
in China operating a network  
of approximately 400 stores  
across China.

In 2013, China Grand Automotive 
remained China’s largest automobile 
dealer group, according to China’s 
Automobile Dealers Association,  
by achieving sales of more than 
540,000 vehicles and revenues  
of 84 billion Yuan. 

China Grand Automotive has  
received approval from the Hong Kong 

1
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As at 30 June 2014, k1 Ventures’ key investments are illustrated in the following chart: 

EDuCATioN
KNowlEDGE  
uNivERSE HolDiNGS

Knowledge universe 
Education lP

 

oTHER iNvESTMENTS
FiNANCiAl SERviCES Guggenheim Capital

AuToMoTivE RETAil China Auto

oTHERS ChrysCapital llC

NzC Guggenheim Fund

k1 ventures
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•	 Oversee	the	business	and	affairs	of	
the Company, including monitoring 
the performance of Management;

•	 Oversee	processes	for	evaluating	
the adequacy of internal controls, 
risk management, financial 
reporting and compliance, and 
satisfy itself as to the adequacy  
of such processes; and

•	 Assume	responsibility	for	 
corporate governance.

The Board is scheduled to meet  
every quarter. In addition, ad hoc 
non-scheduled Board meetings  
may be convened when necessary  
to deliberate on urgent substantive 
matters, and telephonic attendance  
and conferences via audio-visual 
communication at Board meetings  
are allowed under Article 112A of  
the Company’s Articles of Association. 
To assist the Board in the discharge  
of its oversight function, various  
Board Committees, namely, the  
Audit Committee, the Nominating 
Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee, have been constituted  
with clear written terms of reference. 
The Board Committees are actively 
engaged and play an important  
role in ensuring good corporate 
governance. The terms of reference  
of the Audit Committee, the 
Nominating Committee and the 
Remuneration Committee are disclosed 
in this report at pages 22 to 27. The 
Board and Board Committees also rely 
on circular resolutions and discussions 
conducted via telephonic and other 
forms of correspondence in the 
discharge of their duties. 

All new investments, divestments, 
commitment to loans and lines of credit 
from banks and financial institutions 
require the approval of the Board.

A formal letter is sent to newly-appointed  
Directors upon their appointment 
explaining their duties and obligations 
as Director. Changes to laws, 
regulations, policies, accounting 
standards and industry-related matters 
are monitored closely. Where the 
changes have an important and 
significant bearing on the Company 
and its disclosure obligations, the 
Directors are briefed either during 
Board meetings, at specially  
convened sessions or via circulation  
of Board papers. 

The Directors are provided with  
a Director’s tool kit containing 
information on directors’ duties, the 
relevant provisions of the Companies 
Act, Chapter 50 (the “Companies Act”) 
and the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited 
(the “SGX”)(the “Listing Manual”) and the 
Company’s governance policies and 
practices. The Directors are also 
provided with continuing education in 
areas such as Directors’ duties and 
responsibilities, corporate governance, 
changes in financial reporting 
standards, insider trading, changes in 
the Companies Act and industry-related 
matters, so as to update and refresh 

The number of Board and Board Committee meetings held during the financial year, as well as the attendance of  
each Board member, are disclosed as follows:

Director
Board 

Meetings

Board Committee Membership Non-Executive 
Directors Meeting 
(without presence 

of Management)Audit Nominating Remuneration

Steven Jay Green 2 – – – 0 out of 0

Lee Suan Yew 4 – 3 – 1

Teo Soon Hoe 4 4 3 – 1

Alexander Vahabzadeh 3 – – – 1

Neo Boon Siong 4 4 3 – 1

Annie Koh 4  4 – – 1

No. of Meetings Held 4 4 3 0 1

The Board and Management of  
k1 Ventures Limited (the “Company”) 
are committed to maintaining a high 
standard of corporate governance,  
and firmly believe that a genuine 
commitment to good corporate 
governance is essential to the 
sustainability of the Company’s business 
and performance. Accordingly, the 
Company is committed to ensure that 
effective self-regulatory corporate 
practices are in place to protect the 
interests of its shareholders and 
maximise long-term shareholder value. 
In addition, the Company ensures that 
the corporate practices it adopts are 
driven by principles rather than form, 
and takes into account the nature of 
the Company’s existing businesses  
and operations.

The following describes the Company’s 
corporate governance practices that 
were in place or implemented during 
the financial year ended 30 June 2014  
with specific reference to the principles 
set out in the Code of Corporate 
Governance 2012 (the “2012 Code”)1. 

BoARD MATTERS
Principle 1:

Effective Board to lead and  

control the Company 

The principal functions of the Board  
of Directors are to:

•	 Approve	and	review	appropriate	
strategic plans, key operational  
and financial matters, major 
investments and divestments  
and funding decisions;

1 the Code of Corporate Governance  
2012 issued by the Monetary Authority  
of Singapore on 2 May 2012.
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them on matters that affect or may 
enhance their performance as Board  
or Board committee members. In the 
financial year ended 30 June 2014, 
some Directors attended talks and 
forums on topics relating to the global 
macro-economic development, 
corporate governance, leadership in  
the boardroom, regional outlook and 
updates on financial reporting 
standards, among others.
 
BoARD CoMPoSiTioN  
AND GuiDANCE
Principle 2:

Strong and independent element  

on the Board 

The Company fully appreciates that 
fundamental to good corporate 
governance is an effective and robust 
board whose members engage in open 
and constructive debate. For this to 
happen, the Board, in particular the 
non-executive Directors, must be kept 
well informed of the Company’s 
businesses, investments and affairs. 
Towards this end, the Company has 
adopted initiatives to ensure that the 
non-executive Directors are well 
supported with accurate, complete  
and timely information, and have 
unrestricted access to Management. 
These initiatives include the circulation 
of relevant information on prospective 
deals and potential developments  
at an early stage whenever possible 
before formal board approval is  
sought, as well as business initiatives, 
industry developments and analyst  
and press commentaries on matters  
in relation to the Company and/or  
the industries in which it operates.  
The non-executive Directors have 
unrestricted access to Management, 
and have sufficient time and resources 
to discharge their oversight function 
effectively. The non-executive  
Directors occasionally meet without  
the presence of Management,  
and from time to time communicate  
via telephonic conferences to discuss 
issues relating to board processes, 
corporate governance initiatives  
and other matters to be discussed 
during Board meetings.

The Directors believe that the  
Board has sufficient independent 

Directors who can take a broader  
view of the Company’s activities  
and bring independent judgement  
to bear on issues for the Board’s 
consideration, particularly in view  
of the nature of the Company’s 
business and the complex transactions 
in which it participates.

The Board consists of six Directors,  
five of whom are non-executive and 
out of whom three are considered 
independent2 by the Nominating 
Committee. Mr Tan Poh Lee Paul  
was appointed as an alternate director 
to Mr Teo Soon Hoe with effect from 
12 August 2014. The Board, taking into 
account the views of the Nominating 
Committee, determines on an  
annual basis whether or not a Director 
is independent, bearing in mind the 
2012 Code’s definition of who 
constitutes an independent Director 
and guidance as to relationships the 
existence of which would deem a 
director not to be independent.  
In this connection, the Nominating 
Committee takes into account, among 
other things, whether a Director has 
business relationships with the 
Company or any of its related 
companies, and if so, whether such 
relationships could interfere, with the 
exercise of the Director’s independent 
judgement with a view to the best 
interests of the Company. The 
Nominating Committee (save for  
Dr Lee Suan Yew and Professor  
Neo Boon Siong who abstained from 
deliberation in this matter) noted that 
each of Dr Lee Suan Yew, Professor 
Neo Boon Siong and Associate 
Professor Annie Koh has consistently 
shown himself/herself to be 
independent in character and  
judgment in his/her deliberation of the 
interests of the Company and all the 
shareholders of the Company as a 
whole, and his/her participation on  
the Board has benefited the Company 
given his/her expertise. 

The 2012 Code states that the 
independence of any Director who  
has served on the Board beyond nine 
years from the date of first appointment 
should be subject to particularly 
rigorous review. In this regard, the 
Board, taking into account the views of 

2 the 2012 Code defines an “independent” 
director as one who has no relationship 
with the company, its related corporations, 
its 10% shareholders or its officers that 
could interfere, or be reasonably perceived 
to interfere, with the exercise of the 
director’s independent business judgement 
with a view to the best interests of the 
company. A related corporation in relation 
to a company includes its subsidiaries, 
fellow subsidiaries, or parent company and 
a 10% shareholder refers to a person who 
has an interest or interests in one or more 
voting shares (excluding treasury shares) in 
the company and the total votes attached 
to that share, or those shares, is not less 
than 10% of the total votes attached to all 
the voting shares in the company.

the Nominating Committee (save for  
Dr Lee Suan Yew who abstained from 
deliberation in this matter), noted that 
Dr Lee Suan Yew was first appointed to 
the Board on 8 August 2002. However, 
the Board, taking into account the 
views of the Nominating Committee, 
considered that Dr Lee Suan Yew had 
demonstrated independent judgment  
at Board and Board committee 
meetings and was of the firm view that 
he has been exercising independent 
judgment in the best interests of the 
Company in the discharge of his 
Director’s duties. The Board therefore 
continued to deem Dr Lee Suan Yew  
as an independent Director.

Taking into account the views of the 
Nominating Committee, the Board 
concurred that Dr Lee Suan Yew, 
Professor Neo Boon Siong and 
Associate Professor Annie Koh  
should be deemed independent.

The Nominating Committee has 
reaffirmed its view that the current 
Board comprises persons who  
are able to provide the core 
competencies required for the  
Board to be effective and to meet  
the Company’s objectives. The  
Board, in concurrence with the 
Nominating Committee, is of the  
view that, taking into account the 
nature and scope of the Company’s 
activities, and the direction of the 
Company, a Board size of six members 
is appropriate. The independent 
Directors currently make up half  
of the Board. No individual or small 
group of individuals dominate the 
Board’s decision making.
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The executive Chairman, in 
consultation with Management and  
the Company Secretary, schedules 
meetings and prepares meeting agenda 
for the Board to perform its duties 
responsibly with regard to the 
Company’s business activities. He 
ensures that adequate time is available 
for discussion of all agenda items, 
including strategic issues, and 
encourages open discussions and 
constructive relations between the 
Board and Management.

The executive Chairman monitors 
compliance with the Company’s 
corporate governance guidelines  
and the flow of information from 
Management to the Board to  
ensure that all material information  
is provided in a timely manner to  
the Board for the Board to make 
informed decisions. In addition,  
he ensures that relevant information  
on industry developments and analyst 
and press commentaries on matters  
in relation to the Company, its  
investee companies or the industries  
in which they operate is circulated  
to the Board members so as to enable 
them to be updated and thereby 
enhance the effectiveness of the 
non-executive Directors and the  
Board as a whole.

At annual general meetings and  
other shareholders’ meetings, the 
Chairman ensures constructive 
dialogue between shareholders,  
the Board and Management.

BoARD MEMBERSHiP
nOminating COmmittee
Principle 4:

Formal and transparent process for  

the appointment and re-appointment  

of Directors to the Board

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) 
comprises three Directors, namely,  
Dr Lee Suan Yew (Chairman of the NC), 
Mr Teo Soon Hoe and Professor Neo 
Boon Siong, two of whom (including 
the Chairman) are independent 
Directors. The NC had 3 meetings 
during the financial year ended  
30 June 2014, which were attended  
by all the members. 

The terms of reference of the NC  
are as follows:

(a) recommend to the Board  
the appointment and/or  
re-appointment of Directors;

(b) annual review of balance and 
diversity of skills, experience,  
gender and knowledge required  
by the Board, and the size of the 
Board which would facilitate 
decision-making;

(c) annual review of independence of 
each Director, and to ensure that 
the Board comprises at least 
one-third independent Directors.  
In this connection, the NC should 
conduct particularly rigorous review 
of the independence of any 
Director who has served on the 
Board beyond 9 years from the  
date of his/her first appointment; 

CHAiRMAN AND CHiEF  
ExECuTivE oFFiCER
Principle 3:

Clear division of responsibilities  

between the leadership of the Board  

and the executives responsible for 

managing the Company’s business 

Mr Steven Jay Green is both the 
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 
(“CEO”) of the Company. The Board 
confirms that this has not unduly 
concentrated power in the hands of  
one individual or compromised 
accountability and independent 
decision-making. The Board is also of 
the firm and unanimous view that it is  
in the best interest of the Company to 
continue to have an executive Chairman 
so that the Board, and in particular the 
non-executive Directors, can have  
the benefit of a Chairman who is 
knowledgeable about the businesses  
of the Company and is thereby better 
able to guide discussions and ensure 
that the Board is properly briefed in a 
timely manner on pertinent issues and 
developments, and at the same time the 
benefit of objective and independent 
views from the independent Directors. 
The Board believes that it is the person 
who fills the role that matters, rather 
than whether the roles are separate or 
combined per se. In this connection and 
in view that the independent Directors 
currently comprise half of the Board, 
and the direction of the Company,  
the Board has considered that it is not 
necessary, for the time being, to 
appoint a lead independent Director.

The nature of the current Directors’ appointments on the Board and details of their membership on Board Committees  
are set out below:

Director Board Membership

Committee Membership

Audit Nominating Remuneration

Steven Jay Green Executive Chairman – – –

Lee Suan Yew Independent – Chairman Member

Teo Soon Hoe Non-Executive Member Member –

Alexander Vahabzadeh Non-Executive – – –

Neo Boon Siong Independent Chairman Member Member

Annie Koh Independent Member – Chairman

Tan Poh Lee Paul1 Alternate Director to 
Mr Teo Soon Hoe

Alternate Director to 
Mr Teo Soon Hoe

Alternate Director to 
Mr Teo Soon Hoe

–

Note:
1 Mr tan poh Lee paul is appointed as an alternate director to Mr teo Soon Hoe with effect from 12 August 2014.
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(d) decide, where a Director has  
other listed company board 
representation and/or other 
principal commitments, whether 
the Director is able to and has been 
adequately carrying out his/her 
duties as Director of the Company;

(e) recommend to the Board the 
process for the evaluation of the 
performance of the Board, the 
Board Committees and individual 
Directors, and propose objective 
performance criteria to assess the 
effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and the contribution of  
each Director;

(f) annual assessment of the 
effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and individual Directors;

(g) review the succession plans for  
the Board (in particular, the 
Chairman) and senior management 
(in particular, the CEO);

(h) review the training and  
professional development  
programs for Board members;

(i) report to the Board on material 
matters and recommendations;

(j) review the NC’s terms of reference 
annually and recommend any 
proposed changes to the Board;

(k)  perform such other functions as  
the Board may determine; and

(l) sub-delegate any of its powers 
within its terms of reference as 
listed above, from time to time  
as the NC may deem fit.

Process for appointment and  
re-appointment of Directors 
The Directors are subject to retirement 
and re-election at regular intervals of at 
least once every three years. Pursuant 
to Article 86 of the Company’s Articles 
of Association, one-third of the 
Directors retire from office at the 
Company’s Annual General Meeting 
(the “AGM”). In addition, Article 93 of 
the Company’s Articles of Association 
provides that a Director appointed  
to fill a casual vacancy or as an  
addition to the existing Directors  
must submit himself/herself for 
re-election at the AGM immediately 
following his/her appointment. 

Directors who are above the age of  
70 are also statutorily required to  
seek re-appointment at each AGM. 

The NC has in place a formal process 
for the selection of new Directors  
to increase transparency of the 
nominating process in identifying and 
evaluating nominees for Directors.  
The NC leads the process and  
makes recommendations to the  
Board as follows:

(a) The NC evaluates the balance  
of skills, knowledge and  
experience on the Board and,  
in light of such evaluation and in 
consultation with Management, 
prepares a description of the  
role and the essential and  
desirable competencies for  
a particular appointment.

(b) External help (for example, 
Singapore Institute of Directors, 
search consultants, open 
advertisement) may be used to 
source for potential candidates if 
need be. Directors and Management 
may also make suggestions.

(c) The NC meets with the short-listed 
candidate(s) to assess suitability and 
to ensure that the candidate(s) is/
are aware of the expectations and 
the level of commitment required.

(d) The NC makes recommendations 
to the Board for approval.

Criteria for appointment  
of new directors
All new appointments are subject  
to the recommendation of the  
NC based on the following  
objective criteria:

(1) Integrity
(2) Independent mindedness
(3) Diversity – possess core 

competencies that meet the  
current needs of the Company  
and complement the skills and 
competencies of the existing 
Directors on the Board

(4) Able to commit time and effort to 
carry out duties and responsibilities 
effectively – proposed director does 
not have more than six listed 
company board representations  
and other principal commitments

(5) Track record of making  
good decisions

(6) Experience in high-performing 
organisations

(7) Business acumen 

All new appointments and  
re-appointments of Directors are subject  
to the recommendation of the NC. 

Annual review of  
Directors’ independence
The NC is also charged with 
determining the independence status  
of the Directors annually. Please refer 
to page 21 herein on the basis of the 
NC’s determination as to whether a 
Director should or should not be 
deemed independent.

Annual review of Directors’  
time commitments
The NC has adopted internal guidelines 
addressing competing time 
commitments that are faced when 
Directors serve on multiple boards and 
have other principal commitments.  
As a guide, Directors should not have  
in aggregate more than six listed 
company board representations and 
other principal commitments.

The NC determines annually whether  
a Director with other listed company 
board representations and/or other 
principal commitments is able to and 
has been adequately carrying out his/her 
duties as a Director. The NC takes into 
account the results of the assessment  
of the effectiveness of the individual 
Director, and the respective Directors’ 
actual conduct on the Board, in making 
this determination. The NC was satisfied  
that in the financial year ended 30 June 
2014, where a Director had other listed 
company board representations and 
other principal commitments, each 
Director was able and had been 
adequately carrying out his/her duties  
as a Director.

Key information Regarding Directors
The following key information 
regarding directors is set out in the 
following pages of this Annual Report:

Pages 5 to 8: Academic and 
professional qualifications, Board 
committees served on (as a member  
or Chairman), date of first appointment 
as a Director, date of last re-election as 
Director, directorships or chairmanships 
both present and past held over the 
preceding five years in other listed 
companies and other major 
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appointments, whether appointment  
is executive or non-executive,  
whether considered by the NC  
to be independent; and

Page 35: Shareholding in the Company 
as at 21 July 2014.

BoARD PERFoRMANCE
Principle 5:

Formal assessment of the effectiveness 

of the Board and Board Committees and 

the contribution by each Director to the 

effectiveness of the Board 

The Board has implemented formal 
processes which are carried out by  
the NC for assessing the effectiveness 
of the Board as a whole and its Board 
committees and the contribution by  
the Chairman and each individual 
Director to the effectiveness of the 
Board. During the year, each Board 
member is required to complete  
a board evaluation questionnaire.  
The completed board evaluation 
questionnaires are collated and sent  
to the NC for its review, discussion  
and evaluation. The NC Chairman  
and members evaluate the returns  
and provide their comments and 
recommendations to the Board on  
the changes which should be made  
to help the Board discharge its duties 
more effectively.

The performance criteria for the  
Board evaluation are in respect of  
the board size and composition, board 
independence, board processes, board 
information and accountability, board 
performance in relation to discharging 
its principal functions, board committee 
performance in relation to discharging 
their responsibilities set out in their 
respective terms of reference.

The Board assessment exercise 
provides an opportunity to obtain 
constructive feedback from each 
Director and whether the Board’s 
procedures and processes allow him/
her to discharge his/her duties 
effectively and any changes which 
should be made to enhance the 
effectiveness of the Board as a whole. 
The assessment exercise also helps  
the Directors to focus on their  
key responsibilities. 

The Board has deemed that the current 
measure of the Board’s performance, 
which focuses on the ability of the 
Board to lend support to Management 
and to steer the Group in the right 
direction, is appropriate, especially in 
view of the nature of the Company’s 
business. In addition, the Board, 
through the delegation of its authority 
to the NC, has used its best efforts to 
ensure that the Board comprises 
persons who represent the principal 
strategic shareholders of the Company 
as well as independent Directors who 
enhance governance in the interests of 
all shareholders and the Company. 
 
The Board considers that financial 
performance criteria may not be 
entirely appropriate for tracking Board 
performance as it feels that such criteria 
does not evaluate a crucial element of 
the Board’s role, namely, supervision 
and oversight. The Board therefore 
feels that its performance should be 
judged on the basis of accountability  
as a whole, rather than strict definitive 
financial performance criteria.

Where the Board is of the view that any 
changes should be made to enhance 
the effectiveness of the Board as a 
whole and its Board committees or to 
enhance the effectiveness of individual 
Directors, the Board will implement  
the changes accordingly. Any Board 
member may also give his feedback at 
any time to the Chairman of the NC 
and/or the Chairman of the Board with 
a view to enhancing the effectiveness 
of the Board and its Board committees 
or of the individual Directors.

ACCESS To iNFoRMATioN 
Principle 6:

Board members to have complete, 

adequate and timely information

The Company recognises fully that the 
continual flow of relevant information 
on an accurate and timely basis is 
critical for the Board to be effective in 
the discharge of its duties. Board papers 
and related materials are circulated to 
the Board as early as practicable so that 
members of the Board may better 
understand the matters prior to the 
board meeting and discussions may be 
focused on questions that the Board 

has about the board papers. However, 
sensitive matters may be tabled at the 
meeting itself or discussed without any 
papers being distributed. 

The information provided to the Board 
includes financial results, market and 
business developments, and business 
and operational information. Such 
reports keep the Board informed, on  
a balanced and understandable basis,  
of the performance, financial position 
and prospects of the Company, its 
subsidiaries and associated companies 
(the “Group”), and the performance of its 
investments. The financial results are also 
compared against the budgets, together 
with explanations given for significant 
variances for the reporting period.

The Board has separate and 
independent access to the 
Management and the Company 
Secretary at all times. Should the 
Directors, whether as a group or 
individually, require access to 
independent professional advice in the 
furtherance of their duties, the cost of 
such advice will be borne by the 
Company. The appointment and the 
removal of the Company Secretary are 
subject to the approval of the Board.

REMuNERATioN MATTERS
Principle 7:

The procedure for developing policy  

on executive remuneration and for  

fixing remuneration packages of 

individual directors should be  

formal and transparent

Principle 8:

The level and structure of remuneration 

should be aligned with the long-term 

interest and risk policies of the company 

and appropriate to attract, retain and 

motivate Directors to provide good 

stewardship of the company, and key 

management personnel to successfully 

manage the company

Principle 9:

There should be clear disclosure of 

remuneration policy, level and mix  

of remuneration, and procedure for 

setting remuneration

remuneratiOn COmmittee
The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) 
comprises three independent Directors, 
namely, Associate Professor Annie Koh 
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(Chairman of the RC), Dr Lee Suan Yew 
and Professor Neo Boon Siong. The 
aim of the RC is to motivate and retain 
Directors and executives, and ensure 
that the Company is able to attract the 
best talent in the market in order to 
maximise shareholder value. The RC 
has access to expert advice in the field 
of executive compensation where 
required. There was no RC meeting 
during the financial year ended  
30 June 2014.

The terms of reference of the RC  
are as follows:

(a) review and recommend to the 
Board a framework of remuneration 
for Board members and key 
management personnel, and the 
specific remuneration packages for 
each Director as well as for the key 
management personnel;

(b) review the Company’s obligations 
arising in the event of termination of 
the executive Directors’ and key 
management personnel’s contracts 
of service, to ensure that such 
clauses are fair and reasonable and 
not overly generous;  

(c) consider whether Directors should 
be eligible for benefits under 
long-term incentive schemes 
(including weighing the use of share 
schemes against the other types of 
long-term incentive scheme);

(d) report to the Board on material 
matters and recommendations;

(e) review the RC’s terms of reference 
annually and recommend any 
proposed changes to the Board;

(f) perform such other functions as the 
Board may determine; and

(g) sub-delegate any of its powers 
within its terms of reference as 
listed above, from time to time  
as the RC may deem fit.

remuneratiOn POliCy Of  
nOn-exeCutive direCtOrs
The Directors’ fees payable to  
non-executive Directors are paid in 
cash and/or fixed number of shares  
in the capital of the Company  
(“k1 Shares”) as follows:

i. Cash Component: The non-executive 
Directors are paid Directors’ fees in 
arrears, the amount of which is 

dependent on the level of 
responsibilities. Each Director is paid a 
basic fee. In addition, non-executive 
Directors who perform additional 
services through Board Committees are 
paid an additional fee for such services. 
The Chairman of the Board and of each 
Board Committee is also paid a higher 
fee compared with members of the 
Board and of such Board Committee in 
view of the greater responsibility carried 
by that office. Save as provided below, 
none of the Directors have any service 
contracts with the Company. The 
amount of Directors’ fees payable is 
subject to shareholders’ approval at the 
Company’s AGMs. 

ii. Share Component: At the AGM  
of the Company held in 2007, the 
shareholders approved the Board’s 
recommendation relating to the 
remuneration of Directors to permit the 
Company to award a fixed number of  
k1 Shares, as shall from time to time be 
determined by an Ordinary Resolution 
of the Company, to non-executive 
Directors as part of their remuneration. 
The Company is therefore able to 
remunerate its non-executive Directors 
in the form of k1 Shares by the purchase 
of k1 Shares from the market for delivery 
to the non-executive Directors. 

The Board believes that the 
incorporation of an equity component 
in the total remuneration of the 
non-executive Directors would achieve 
the objective of aligning the interests of 
the non-executive Directors with those 
of the shareholders and the long-term 
interests of the Company.
 
The Directors’ fees payable to  
non-executive Directors is subject  

to shareholders’ approval at the 
Company’s AGMs.

For the financial year ended 30 June 
2014, the Company is proposing to 
procure the purchase from the market 
of 225,000 k1 Shares solely for the 
purpose of the delivery of 45,000 k1 
Shares to each non-executive Director 
as part of Directors’ remuneration. This 
proposal will be subject to shareholders’ 
approval at the AGM. The number of k1 
Shares to be awarded may be reviewed 
from time to time for subsequent 
financial years, but any change is not 
expected to be significant.

remuneratiOn POliCy Of 
exeCutive direCtOr and Other 
Key management PersOnnel
The remuneration of the Directors and 
other key management personnel is 
under the purview of the RC.

The Company currently only has one 
executive Director, being Mr Steven Jay 
Green. Mr Jeffrey Alan Safchik, the 
Company’s Chief Financial Officer and 
Chief Operating Officer (“CFO and 
COO”), ceased to be an executive 
Director with effect from 9 May 2013.
 
The appointments and discharge of  
the roles of Mr Steven Jay Green as  
the CEO and Mr Jeffrey Alan Safchik as 
the CFO and COO are in connection 
with the consultancy and management 
services provided by Greenstreet 
Partners, L.P. (“Greenstreet”) under  
the 2014 Restructured Management 
Agreements (as defined below). 

Therefore, Mr Steven Jay Green and  
Mr Jeffrey Alan Safchik do not draw  
any salary from the Company. 

The framework for determining Directors’ fees is as follows:

Ratio to Retainer  
of $30,000

Chairman $60,000 per annum 2.00

Director $30,000 per annum 1.00

Audit Committee Chairman $25,000 per annum 0.83

Member $15,000 per annum 0.50

Other Board Committees Chairman $12,000 per annum 0.40

Member $8,000 per annum 0.27
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Prior to 26 August 2014, Greenstreet 
provided the consultancy and 
management services to the Group 
under a second amended and restated 
management agreement dated 15 
October 2010 and as approved in an 
extraordinary general meeting of the 
shareholders of the same date (the 
“2010 Management Agreement”). 
Pursuant to an internal restructuring  
of the Group in 2014, the 2010 
Management Agreement was 
bifurcated into two management 
agreements as follows:

(1) a third amended and restated 
management agreement dated  
26 August 2014 between the 
Company and Greenstreet, 
pursuant to which Greenstreet 
provides consultancy and 
management services to the Group 
(other than the services provided 
under the DFS Agreement (as 
defined below)); and

(2) a new agreement dated 26 August 
2014 between DFS Holdings I Corp. 
(“DFS”) (an indirect wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company) and 
Greenstreet pursuant to which 
Greenstreet provides consultancy 
services on investment 
opportunities for DFS and 
management services in respect  
of all other aspects of managing 
DFS and its business activities 
throughout the United States  
(“DFS Agreement”),

(together, the “2014 Restructured 
Management Agreements”).

The 2014 Restructured Management 
Agreements do not contain any 
substantive change to the terms  
and arrangements under the 2010 
Management Agreement. The fees  
paid under the 2014 Restructured 
Management Agreements are identical 
in amount as the fees paid under the 
2010 Management Agreement save  
that the portion of the fees payable to 
Greenstreet relating to the services 
provided under the DFS Agreement 
shall be paid by DFS pursuant to  
the terms of the DFS Agreement. 
Accordingly, shareholders’ approval  
was not required for the 2014 
Restructured Management Agreements.

More information on the 2014 
Restructured Management Agreements 
can be found in the Directors’ Report 
on page 35 under the heading 
“Management Agreement”.

The RC has however resolved that  
Mr Steven Jay Green would be 
compensated with Directors’ fees 
based on the same framework as  
set out above under the section 
“Remuneration Policy of Non-Executive 
Directors”, subject to shareholders’ 
approval at the Company’s AGMs.

level and mix Of remuneratiOn 
Of Key management PersOnnel 
(whO are nOt alsO direCtOrs) 
fOr the year ended 30 June 2014
Save for the CEO (Mr Steven Jay Green) 
and the CFO and COO (Mr Jeffrey  
Alan Safchik), there are no other  
key management personnel of  
the Company.

remuneratiOn Of emPlOyees 
whO are immediate family 
memBers Of a direCtOr Or  
the exeCutive Chairman
No employee of the Company and its 
subsidiaries was an immediate family 
member of a Director or the executive 
Chairman and whose remuneration 
exceeded $50,000 during the financial 
year ended 30 June 2014. “Immediate 
family member” means the spouse, 
child, adopted child, step-child, brother, 
sister and parent.

DETAilS oF THE k1 vENTuRES  
SHARE oPTioN SCHEME 2000
The k1 Ventures Share Option Scheme 
2000 had lapsed and there are no 
options to take up unissued shares of 
the Company or any corporation in the 
Group, and no unissued shares of the 
Company or any corporation in the 
Group under option.

ACCouNTABiliTy AND AuDiT
Principle 10:

The Board should present a balanced  

and understandable assessment of  

the Company’s performance,  

position and prospects

Principle 12:

Establishment of Audit Committee  

with written terms of reference

Management provides the Board with 
management accounts on a monthly 
basis to keep the Board informed of,  
on a balanced and understandable 
basis, the performance, position  
and prospects of the Group. Such 
management accounts consist of the 
consolidated profit and loss accounts, 

level and mix Of remuneratiOn Of direCtOrs fOr the finanCial year ended 30 June 2014 
The annual remuneration report for Directors is as follows: 

Name of Director

Below $250,000

Base/
Fixed Salary

Variable Income/
Bonuses

Directors’ 
Fees ($)

Remuneration 
Shares1

Steven Jay Green – – 60,000 –

Lee Suan Yew – – 50,000 45,000

Teo Soon Hoe – – 53,000 45,000

Alexander Vahabzadeh – – 30,000 45,000

Neo Boon Siong – – 71,000 45,000

Annie Koh – – 57,000 45,000

Note:
1 the award of remuneration Shares approved by shareholders during the Company’s AGM held on 31 October 2007 is only applicable to non-executive directors.
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analysis of revenues, operating profit 
and attributable profit compared against 
the budgets, together with explanations 
given for significant variances for  
the month and year-to-date. Board 
members are also provided with all 
relevant information on material  
events and transactions accurately and 
promptly as and when they arise, as 
well as the Company’s funding position 
and investment updates prior to each 
Board meeting.

The Board is committed to being open 
and transparent in the conduct of the 
Company’s affairs, whilst preserving the 
commercial interests of the Company. 
Financial results are reported on a 
quarterly basis, and financial reports  
and other price sensitive information 
are disseminated to shareholders 
through announcements via SGXNET  
to the SGX, press releases and  
the Company’s website.

audit COmmittee
The Audit Committee (“AC”) comprises 
three non-executive Directors, two of 
whom (including the Chairman) are 
independent Directors, namely, 
Professor Neo Boon Siong (Chairman 
of the AC), Mr Teo Soon Hoe and 
Associate Professor Annie Koh. All 
members of the AC have recent and 
relevant accounting and/or related 
financial management expertise  
or experience. 

The AC had 4 meetings during the 
financial year ended 30 June 2014, 
which were attended by all  
the members.

The terms of reference of the AC  
are as follows:

(a) review financial statements and any 
formal announcements relating to 
financial performance, and review 
significant financial reporting issues 
and judgments contained in them, 
so as to ensure the integrity of such 
statements and announcements;

(b) review and report to the Board at 
least annually the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal 
controls, including financial, 
operational, compliance and 
information technology controls 

(such review can be carried out 
internally or with the assistance of 
any competent third parties);

(c) review audit plans and reports of 
the external auditor and their 
evaluation of the systems of internal 
controls arising from their audit 
examination, and consider the 
effectiveness of actions or  
policies taken by Management  
on the recommendations  
and observations;

(d) review the scope and results of  
the external audit, and the 
independence and objectivity  
of the external auditors annually;

(e) review the nature and extent of 
non-audit services performed  
by the external auditors to  
ensure objectivity;

(f) meet with external auditors and 
internal auditors, without the 
presence of Management,  
at least once annually;

(g) make recommendations to the 
Board on the proposals to the 
shareholders on the appointment, 
re-appointment and removal of  
the external auditors, and  
approve the remuneration and 
terms of engagement of the 
external auditors;

(h) review the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal audit function,  
at least annually;

(i) ensure that the internal audit 
function is adequately resourced 
and has appropriate standing within 
the Company, at least annually;

(j) approve the hiring, removal, 
evaluation and compensation of the 
head of the internal audit function, 
or the accounting/auditing firm or 
corporation to which the internal 
audit function is outsourced;

(k) review the valuation of investments;
(l) review the policy and arrangements 

by which employees of the 
Company and any other persons 
may, in confidence, raise concerns 
about possible improprieties in 
matters of financial reporting or 
other matters, to ensure that 
arrangements are in place for  
such concerns to be raised and 
independently investigated,  
and for appropriate follow up  
action to be taken;

(m) review interested person 
transactions;

(n) receive, as and when appropriate, 
reports and recommendations from 
Management on risk tolerance and 
strategy, and recommend to the 
Board for its determination the 
nature and extent of significant risks 
which the Group overall may take in 
achieving its strategic objectives 
and the overall Group’s levels of risk 
tolerance and risk policies;

(o) review and discuss, as and when 
appropriate, with Management the 
Group’s risk governance structure 
and its risk policies and risk 
mitigation and monitoring 
processes and procedures;

(p) receive and review at least quarterly 
reports from Management on major 
risk exposures and the steps taken 
to monitor, control and mitigate 
such risks;

(q) review the Group’s capability to 
identify and manage new risk types;

(r) review and monitor Management’s 
responsiveness to the findings and 
recommendations of the AC;

(s) provide timely input to the Board on 
critical risk issues;

(t) investigate any matters within  
the AC’s purview, whenever  
it deems necessary;

(u) report to the Board on material 
matters, findings and 
recommendations;

(v) review the AC’s terms of reference 
annually and recommend any 
proposed changes to the Board;

(w) perform such other functions as  
the Board may determine; and

(x) sub-delegate any of its powers 
within its terms of reference as 
listed above from time to time as 
the AC may deem fit.

The AC has full access to and  
co-operation of Management  
and full discretion to invite any  
Director or executive officer to  
attend its meetings.

During the financial year ended  
30 June 2014, the AC performed 
independent reviews of the financial 
statements of the Group before the 
announcement of the financial results. 
Changes to accounting standards and 
issues which have a direct impact on 
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the financial statements were reported 
to the AC by Management and 
highlighted by the external auditors in 
their report to the AC. All audit findings  
and recommendations put up by  
the external auditors were forwarded 
and discussed at the AC meetings. 
During the year, the AC met with the 
external auditors two times to discuss 
audit matters relating to the Group.  
One of the meetings with the external 
auditors was held without the presence 
of Management.

The AC undertook a review of the 
independence and objectivity of the 
external auditors through discussions 
with the external auditors as well as  
a review of the non-audit services 
performed and the non-audit fees  
paid to them, and confirmed that the 
non-audit services performed by the 
external auditors would not affect  
their independence. For details of the 
aggregate amount of fees paid or 
payable to the external auditors for  
the financial year ended 30 June 2014, 
and a breakdown of the fees paid in 
total in respect of audit and non-audit 
services, please refer to Note 21 of  
the Notes to the Financial Statement  
on pages 64 and 65.

The Company has complied with  
Rule 712, and Rule 715 read with  
Rule 716 of the Listing Manual in 
relation to its auditing firms.

The AC reviewed the Ethics Reporting 
Policy (the “Policy”), which provides  
for the mechanisms by which 
employees and other persons may,  
in confidence, raise concerns about 
possible improprieties in financial 
reporting or other matters. A set of 
guidelines, which was reviewed by  
the AC and approved by the Board,  
was also issued to assist the AC in 
managing allegations of fraud or other 
misconduct which may be made 
pursuant to the Policy, so that:

•	 Investigations	are	carried	out	in	an	
appropriate and timely manner;

•	 Administrative,	disciplinary,	civil	and/
or criminal actions that are initiated 
following completion of 
investigations, are appropriate, 
balanced and fair; and

•	 Action	is	taken	to	correct	the	
weaknesses in the existing system 
of internal processes and policies 
which allowed the perpetration of 
the fraud and/or misconduct, and 
to prevent a recurrence.

RiSK MANAGEMENT AND  
iNTERNAl CoNTRolS
Principle 11:

Sound system of risk management  

and internal controls

The Board of Directors, supported  
by the AC, oversees the Company’s 
system of risk management and  
internal controls.

The AC reviews the reports submitted 
by the external auditors relating to the 
effectiveness of the Company’s 
significant internal controls, including 
financial, operational and compliance 
controls, and management of risks  
and fraud and other irregularities.  
Any material non-compliance or  
failures in internal controls and 
recommendations for improvements 
are reported to the AC. The AC also 
reviews the effectiveness of the actions 
taken by Management on the 
recommendations made by the 
external auditors in this respect. There 
are significant information technology 
infrastructure and related controls in 
place including access security, data 
management/computer operations, 
and change management. Access  
to certain reports, files and programs 
are password protected to prevent 
inappropriate access. In the accounting 
software, business process owners are 
restricted from having administrative 
access, which separates duties. 
Computer data is routinely backed-up 
so that if files and/or documents are 
lost or damaged, they may be easily 
restored. Financial reporting 
applications and operations are  
secured to prevent unauthorised use, 
disclose, modification, damage or loss 
of data. Database access is limited to 
the information technology team. 
Changes and enhancements to 
financial applications are approved and 
then implemented by the information 
technology team, and then testing of 
changes is performed by business 
process owners. 

The Company’s risk management 
system is a continuous process of 
analysis and communication. The 
Company recognizes fully that it is 
crucial to provide timely input to  
the Board on critical risk issues. The 
Group has in place several processes 
towards ensuring the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the Group’s system of 
internal controls and risk management. 
The Company is required to ensure 
good corporate governance through 
the implementation and management 
of policies and procedures relevant  
to the Group’s business scope and 
environment. Such policies and 
procedures govern financial, 
operational, information technology 
and compliance matters and are 
reviewed and updated periodically. 
Significant risk areas of Group are 
identified and assessed, with systems, 
policies and processes put in place  
to manage and mitigate the identified 
risks. The implementation of policies 
such as the Ethics Reporting Policy 
establish a clear tone at the top  
with regard to business and  
ethical conduct.   

The Board has received assurance  
from the CEO and CFO:

(a) that the financial records have  
been properly maintained and the 
financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the Group’s operations 
and finances; and

(b) regarding the effectiveness of the 
Group’s risk management and 
internal control systems.

For the financial year ended  
30 June 2014, based on the Group’s 
framework of management control,  
the internal control policies and 
procedures established and maintained 
by the Group, and the annual review 
performed by the external auditors,  
the Board, with the concurrence of  
the AC, is of the opinion that, the 
Group’s internal controls to address  
the financial, operational, compliance 
risks and information technology 
controls, and risk management  
systems which the Group considers 
relevant and material to its current 
business scope and environment,  
are adequate and effective.
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The system of internal controls and  
risk management established by the 
Group provides reasonable, but not 
absolute, assurance that the Group  
will not be adversely affected by any 
event that can be reasonably foreseen 
as it strives to achieve its business 
objectives. However, the Board also 
notes that no system of internal 
controls and risk management can 
provide absolute assurance in this 
regard, or absolute assurance against 
the occurrence of material errors,  
poor judgement in decision-making, 
human error, losses, fraud or  
other irregularities.

iNTERNAl AuDiT
Principle 13:

Effective and independent internal  

audit function that is adequately 

resourced and independent of  

the activities it audits

The Board believes it is crucial to  
put in place a system of internal 
controls of the Group’s procedures  
and processes to safeguard 
shareholders’ interests and the  
Group’s assets, and to manage risks.

The AC reviews, on an annual basis,  
the adequacy of the internal audit 
function. During its review in the 
financial year ended 30 June 2014,  
the AC concluded that as the Company 
no longer has any major operating 
subsidiaries and the Company’s main 
activities relate to head office functions 
and have no operational risks, the 
appointment of an internal auditor  
for the Company was not necessary. 
Instead, the Company has put in  
place certain review procedures to 
monitor the key controls and 
procedures and ensure their 
effectiveness. To assist the AC to 
ensure that the Company maintains  
a sound system of internal controls, 
Management monitors and reviews  
all financial activities and all 
disbursements are approved by  
the CFO. The Management’s 
assurances on the Company’s  
internal controls are reviewed by  
the AC and updated periodically.  
Such procedures complement the  
AC’s oversight and supervision of the 
Company’s internal controls. 

CoMMuNiCATioN  
wiTH SHAREHolDERS
Principle 14:

Fair and equitable treatment of 

shareholders and protection of 

shareholders’ rights

Principle 15:

Regular, effective and fair  

communication with shareholders

Principle 16:

Greater shareholder participation  

at general meetings

The Company believes that a high 
standard of disclosure is key to raising 
the level of corporate governance.  
The Company does not practise 
selective disclosure. Material and 
price-sensitive information is publicly 
released, and results and annual reports 
are announced or issued within the 
mandatory periods. The Company has 
also engaged the Group Corporate 
Communications Department of 
Keppel Corporation Limited to improve 
communication with shareholders, and 
to receive and attend to their queries 
and concerns.

Shareholders are informed of 
shareholders’ meetings through notices 
published in the newspapers and 
reports and/or circulars sent to all 
shareholders. Shareholders are invited 
at such meetings to put forth any 
questions they may have on the 
motions to be debated and decided 
upon. Shareholders are also informed 
of the rules, including voting 
procedures, governing such meetings. 
If any shareholder is unable to attend, 
he or she is allowed to appoint up to 
two proxies to vote on his or her behalf 
at the meeting through proxy forms 
sent in advance.

At shareholders’ meetings, each  
distinct issue is proposed as a separate 
resolution. To ensure transparency,  
the Company conducts electronic poll 
voting for shareholders/proxies present 
at the meeting for all the resolutions 
proposed at the general meeting.  
Votes cast for and against and the 
percentages, on each resolution will  
be displayed ‘live’ to shareholders/
proxies immediately after each poll 
conducted. The total number of  
votes cast for or against the resolutions 

and the respective percentages are  
also announced in a timely manner 
after the general meeting via SGXnet. 
External auditors are also present at 
such meetings to assist the Directors  
to address shareholders’ queries,  
if necessary.

The Company will not be considering 
implementing absentia voting  
methods such as voting via mail,  
email or fax until security, integrity  
and other pertinent issues are 
satisfactorily resolved.

The Company Secretary prepares 
minutes of shareholders’ meetings, 
which incorporate substantial 
comments or queries from 
shareholders and responses from  
the Board and Management.  
These minutes are available to 
shareholders upon their requests. 

To enhance communication with 
investors, the Company has held 
several press and analysts’ conferences 
since 2003 and will continue to do  
so from time to time as it deems 
appropriate. The Company’s website 
(http://www.k1ventures.com.sg) 
provides investors with weblinks  
and other information regarding  
the Company’s businesses  
and investments.

seCurities transaCtiOns
In compliance with Rule 1207(19) of  
the Listing Manual on best practices  
on dealing in securities, the Company 
issues circulars to its Directors and 
officers informing that the Company 
and its officers must not deal in  
listed securities of the Company  
one month before the announcement 
of the Company’s full-year financial 
results and two weeks before the 
announcement of the Company’s 
financial results for each of the first 
three quarters of its financial year, as 
the case may be, and if they are in 
possession of unpublished material 
price-sensitive information. Directors 
and officers have also been informed  
of the implications of insider trading 
and guidance on such dealings, 
including the prohibition on dealings 
with the Company’s securities on 
short-term considerations.
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Code of Corporate Governance 2012
Specific Principles and Guidelines for Disclosure

Relevant Guideline or Principle
Page Reference in  
Corporate Governance Report

Guideline 1.3 
Delegation of authority, by the Board to any board committee, to make decisions on  
certain board matters

Pages 20, 22 to 25

Guideline 1.4 
The number of meetings of the Board and board committees held in the year, as well as  
the attendance of every board member at these meetings

Page 20

Guideline 1.5 
The type of material transactions that require board approval under guidelines

Page 20

Guideline 1.6 
The induction, orientation and training provided to new and existing directors

Pages 20 and 21

Guideline 2.3 
The Board should identify in the company’s Annual Report each director it considers to be  
independent. Where the Board considers a director to be independent in spite of the existence  
of a relationship as stated in the Code that would otherwise deem a director not to be  
independent, the nature of the director’s relationship and the reasons for considering him  
as independent should be disclosed

Pages 21 and 22

Guideline 2.4 
Where the Board considers an independent director, who has served on the Board for more  
than nine years from the date of his first appointment, to be independent, the reasons  
for considering him as independent should be disclosed.

Page 21

Guideline 3.1 
Relationship between the Chairman and CEO where they are immediate family members

Not applicable

Guideline 4.1 
Names of the members of the NC and the key terms of reference of the NC,  
explaining its role and the authority delegated to it by the Board

Pages 22 to 24

Guideline 4.4 
The maximum number of listed company board representations which directors may  
hold should be disclosed

Page 23

Guideline 4.6 
Process for the selection, appointment and re-appointment of new directors to the Board,  
including the search and nomination process

Page 23

Guideline 4.7 
Key information regarding directors, including which directors are executive, non-executive  
or considered by the NC to be independent

Pages 5 to 8 and 22

Guideline 5.1 
The Board should state in the company’s Annual Report how assessment of the Board, its board 
committees and each director has been conducted. If an external facilitator has been used, the  
Board should disclose in the company’s Annual Report whether the external facilitator has any  
other connection with the company or any of its directors. This assessment process should be  
disclosed in the company’s Annual Report

Page 24

Guideline 7.1 
Names of the members of the RC and the key terms of reference of the RC, explaining its role  
and the authority delegated to it by the Board

Pages 22, 24 and 25

Guideline 7.3 
Names and firms of the remuneration consultants (if any) should be disclosed in the annual  
remuneration report, including a statement on whether the remuneration consultants have  
any relationships with the company

Not applicable

Principle 9 
Clear disclosure of remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, and procedure  
for setting remuneration

Pages 25 and 26

Guideline 9.1 
Remuneration of directors, the CEO and at least the top five key management personnel (who are 
not also directors or the CEO) of the company. The annual remuneration report should include the 
aggregate amount of any termination, retirement and post-employment benefits that may be granted to 
directors, the CEO and the top five key management personnel (who are not directors or the CEO)

Pages 25 and 26
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Relevant Guideline or Principle
Page Reference in  
Corporate Governance Report

Guideline 9.2 
Fully disclose the remuneration of each individual director and the CEO on a named basis.  
There will be a breakdown (in percentage or dollar terms) of each director’s and the CEO’s 
remuneration earned through base/fixed salary, variable or performance-related income/bonuses, 
benefits in kind, stock options granted, share-based incentives and awards, and other  
long-term incentives

Pages 25 and 26

Guideline 9.3 
Name and disclose the remuneration of at least the top five key management personnel  
(who are not directors or the CEO) in bands of S$250,000. There will be a breakdown  
(in percentage or dollar terms) of each key management personnel’s remuneration earned  
through base/fixed salary, variable or performance-related income/bonuses, benefits in kind,  
stock options granted, share-based incentives and awards, and other long-term incentives.  
In addition, the company should disclose in aggregate the total remuneration paid to the  
top five key management personnel (who are not directors or the CEO). As best practice,  
companies are also encouraged to fully disclose the remuneration of the said top  
five key management personnel

Pages 25 and 26

Guideline 9.4 
Details of the remuneration of employees who are immediate family members of a director  
or the CEO, and whose remuneration exceeds S$50,000 during the year. This will be done  
on a named basis with clear indication of the employee’s relationship with the relevant  
director or the CEO. Disclosure of remuneration should be in incremental bands  
of S$50,000

Page 26

Guideline 9.5 
Details and important terms of employee share schemes

Not applicable, page 26

Guideline 9.6 
For greater transparency, companies should disclose more information on the link between  
remuneration paid to the executive directors and key management personnel, and performance.  
The annual remuneration report should set out a description of performance conditions to  
which entitlement to short-term and long-term incentive schemes are subject, an explanation  
on why such performance conditions were chosen, and a statement of whether such  
performance conditions are met

Pages 25 and 26

Guideline 11.3 
The Board should comment on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal controls, including 
financial, operational, compliance and information technology controls, and risk management systems

The commentary should include information needed by stakeholders to make an informed  
assessment of the company’s internal control and risk management systems

The Board should also comment on whether it has received assurance from the CEO and  
the CFO: (a) that the financial records have been properly maintained and the financial  
statements give true and fair view of the company’s operations and finances; and (b) regarding  
the effectiveness of the company’s risk management and internal control systems

Pages 28 and 29

Guideline 12.1 
Names of the members of the AC and the key terms of reference of the AC, explaining its role  
and the authority delegated to it by the Board

Pages 22, 27 and 28

Guideline 12.6 
Aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors for that financial year, and breakdown of  
fees paid in total for audit and non-audit services respectively, or an appropriate negative statement 

Page 28

Guideline 12.7 
The existence of a whistle-blowing policy should be disclosed in the company’s Annual Report

Page 28

Guideline 12.8 
Summary of the AC’s activities and measures taken to keep abreast of changes to accounting  
standards and issues which have a direct impact on financial statements

Pages 20, 21, 26 to 29

Guideline 15.4 
The steps the Board has taken to solicit and understand the views of the shareholders e.g. through  
analyst briefings, investor roadshows or Investors’ Day briefings

Page 29

Guideline 15.5 
Where dividends are not paid, companies should disclose their reasons.

Not applicable
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Directors’ Report

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group and balance sheet 
and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

1. Directors
 The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

 Steven Jay Green (Chairman)
 Lee Suan Yew
 Teo Soon Hoe
 Alexander Vahabzadeh
 Neo Boon Siong
 Annie Koh
 Tan Poh Lee Paul (Appointed on 12th August 2014 as alternate director to Teo Soon Hoe)

2. Audit Committee
 The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors comprises three members.  Members of the Committee are:

 Neo Boon Siong (Chairman)
 Teo Soon Hoe
 Annie Koh

 Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the corporate governance section.

 The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with the Companies Act, including the review of the audit 
plans and scope of the audit examination of the auditors of the Company, their findings on the financial statements 
arising from their audit examination, as well as the nature and extent of non-audit services performed by them.  In 
addition, the Audit Committee carried out the following functions:

- Reviewed the independence and objectivity of the external auditors annually;
- Nominated external auditors for re-appointment;
- Reviewed the accounts of the Company and the consolidated accounts of the Group before their submission to 

the Board of Directors;
- Reviewed the scope and results of internal audit procedures; and
- Reviewed interested person transactions.

 The Audit Committee recommended to the Board of Directors the re-appointment of Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors 
of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

3. Internal controls and risk management
 Based on the Group’s framework of management control, the review procedures established and maintained by the 

Company to monitor the key controls and procedures to ensure their effectiveness, and the annual reviews performed 
by the external auditors, the Board, with the concurrence of the Audit Committee, is of the view that the Group’s internal 
controls to address financial, operational, compliance risks and information technology controls, and risk management 
systems as at 30 June 2014 are adequate.

4. Arrangements to enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares and debentures
 Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement whose 

object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures 
in the Company or any other corporate body except as disclosed in paragraph 7 of the Directors’ Report.
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5. Directors’ interests in shares and debentures
 The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year and their interests in the share capital of the 

Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ shareholdings kept by the Company under 
Section 164 of the Companies Act are as follows:

 Interest held at
  01.07.13  30.06.14 21.07.14

 k1 Ventures Limited
 (Ordinary shares)
 Steven Jay Green (deemed interest) 305,332,800 305,332,800 305,332,800
 Lee Suan Yew 210,000 255,000 255,000
 Teo Soon Hoe 102,500 102,500 102,500
 Alexander Vahabzadeh 64,000 109,000 109,000
 Alexander Vahabzadeh (deemed interest) 265,000,000 265,000,000 265,000,000
 Neo Boon Siong 64,000 109,000 109,000
 Annie Koh - 23,000 23,000

 Helm Financial Corporation
 (Debentures in US$)
 Steven Jay Green (deemed interest) 3,716,950 - -

6. Management Agreement
 The Company entered into a Management Agreement dated 18 November 2003, which was amended and/or restated 

from time to time, with Greenstreet Partners, L.P. (“Greenstreet”), a limited partnership in which the Chairman of the 
Company has a substantial financial interest, pursuant to which Greenstreet will provide the Company with consultancy 
services on investment opportunities and management services in respect of all other aspects of managing the Company 
and its business activities throughout the world. Pursuant to an internal restructuring of the Group, the Second Amended 
and Restated Management Agreement dated 15 October 2010 (“2010 Management Agreement”) was bifurcated into 
two separate management agreements being the Third Amended and Restated Management Agreement and the DFS 
Management Agreement dated 26 August 2014 (collectively, the “Agreements”). The Agreements do not contain any 
substantive change to the terms and arrangements under the 2010 Management Agreement, save for the portion of 
fees payable to Greenstreet were bifurcated between the Agreements.  The Agreements provide for the Company or 
its affiliates to pay Greenstreet (i) a monthly fee of between US$50,000 to US$200,000 and (ii) a monthly management 
fee of 0.0625% of the aggregate amount of capital invested by the Company or its affiliates in any investment after 15 
October 2010, provided that once such aggregate amount of capital invested is equal to the existing capital amount, 
then any new capital shall be subject to a monthly management fee of 0.125% thereof, provided however that the 
entire existing capital amount must be fully committed for such investments prior to the investment of any new capital. 
Greenstreet will also be entitled to receive a carried interest in respect of each new investment undertaken by the 
Company or its affiliates to be determined on a transaction-by-transaction basis. The carried interest payable shall 
be based upon the realised net profits, after the return of invested capital and management fees paid to Greenstreet 
generated with respect to each investment, whereby Greenstreet will receive a specified proportion of the realised net 
profits in excess of agreed rates of return for each new investment.

 Except as disclosed in this report and in the notes to the financial statements, no director of the Company has since the 
beginning of the financial year received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is required to be disclosed under 
Section 201(8) of the Companies Act by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the 
director or with a firm of which he is a member or with a company in which he has a substantial financial interest.

7. Share options
 The k1 Ventures Share Option Scheme 2000 has lapsed and there are no options to take up unissued shares of the 

Company or any corporation in the Group, and no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group 
under option.
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8. Auditors
 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Steven Jay Green Neo Boon Siong
Chairman Director

Singapore
4 September 2014
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Statement of Directors

We, STEVEN JAY GREEN and NEO BOON SIONG being two directors of k1 Ventures Limited, do hereby state that in the opinion 
of the directors, the financial statements set out on pages 39 to 74 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2014, and of the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group 
and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there are reasonable 
grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Steven Jay Green Neo Boon Siong
Chairman Director

Singapore
4 September 2014
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Independent Auditors’ Report
to the Members of k1 Ventures Limited

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of k1 Ventures Limited (“Company”) and its subsidiaries (“Group”) 
which comprise the balance sheets of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2014, the profit and loss account, statement 
of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cashflows of the Group and the statement of 
changes in equity of the Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory notes, as set out on pages 39 to 74.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for devising and 
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as 
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair balance sheets and profit and loss accounts and to maintain accountability 
of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of 
the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at 30 June 2014 and of the results, 
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by its subsidiary 
incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Public Accountants and 
Chartered Accountants

Tay Boon Suan
Partner
Appointed on 24 October 2013

Singapore
4 September 2014
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Balance Sheets

  COMPANY GROUP

   Note 30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Share capital 3 196,439 196,439 196,439 196,439
Reserves 4 5,588  100,166 60,080 153,475
Share capital and reserves  202,027 296,605 256,519  349,914
Non-controlling interests  - - - 32,123
Capital employed  202,027 296,605 256,519 382,037

Represented by:
Fixed assets 5 - - - 204,402
Subsidiaries 6 118,539 273,504 - -
Associated company and joint ventures 7 - - - 66,429
Investments 8 17,204 17,442 167,931 157,954
Other assets 9 7,135 - 8,934 4,579
Intangibles 10 - - - 115,195
    142,878 290,946 176,865 548,559

Current assets
Stocks 11 - - - 1,154
Amounts due from subsidiaries 12 5 3 - -
Debtors 13 9,072 26 12,688 10,775
Deposits, bank balances and cash 14 51,171 6,769 70,602 77,617
    60,248 6,798 83,290 89,546

Current liabilities
Creditors 15 583 615 1,834 9,877
Amounts due to:
 - subsidiaries 12 516 524 - -
 - associated company and joint ventures 12 - - - 56
Term loans 16 - - - 1,521
Provision for taxation  - - 41 14,004
    1,099 1,139 1,875 25,458

Net current assets  59,149 5,659 81,415 64,088

Non-current liabilities
Term loans 16 - - - 147,203
Deferred liabilities 17 - - - 877
Deferred taxation 18 - - 1,761 82,530
    - - 1,761 230,610

Net assets  202,027 296,605 256,519 382,037

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

    Note 30.06.14 30.06.13
     $’000 $’000

Continuing operations

Revenue  19 31,644 95,938
Net carrying value of investment disposed  - (25,831)
Staff costs 20 (181) (162)
Depreciation and amortisation 5, 10 (1) -
Other operating expenses  (5,688) (5,033)

Operating profit 21 25,774 64,912
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain  (324) 735

Profit before tax  25,450 65,647
Taxation 22 (5,335) (14,066)

Profit from continuing operations  20,115 51,581

Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations 30 (7,012) 3,731

Profit for the year  13,103 55,312

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company
 - Profit from continuing operations  20,115 51,581
 - (Loss)/profit from discontinued operations  (7,343) 2,989
    12,772 54,570
Non-controlling interests  331 742

    13,103 55,312

Earnings per ordinary share (cents): 23

From continuing and discontinued operations
 - basic  0.59 2.52
 - diluted  0.59 2.52

From continuing operations
 - basic  0.93 2.38
 - diluted  0.93 2.38
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

Profit for the year 13,103 55,312

Other comprehensive income:

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss account:

Fair value changes on available-for-sale investments, net of tax (5,586) 8,343

Fair value changes on available-for-sale assets realised
 and transferred to profit and loss account (724) (19,882)

Exchange differences arising on consolidation (4,053) 487

Share of other comprehensive income 237 316

Realisation of reserves transferred to profit and loss account 
 upon disposal of subsidiary 55,337 -

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year, net of tax 45,211 (10,736)

Total comprehensive income for the year 58,314 44,576

Attributable to:
Shareholders of the Company 58,198 43,686
Non-controlling interests 116 890

  58,314 44,576
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Statements of Changes in Equity
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014

  Share Capital Revenue  
  capital reserves reserves Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company

As at 1 July 2013 196,439 (813) 100,979 296,605

Total comprehensive (expense)/
 income for the year
Profit for the year - - 57,126 57,126
Other comprehensive expense - (111) - (111)
Total comprehensive (expense)/
 income for the year - (111) 57,126 57,015

Transactions with equity holders,
 recorded directly in equity
Distribution to shareholders
Dividend paid (Note 24) - - (151,593) (151,593)

As at 30 June 2014 196,439 (924) 6,512 202,027

As at 1 July 2012 196,439 (295) 119,002 315,146

Total comprehensive (expense)/
 income for the year
Profit for the year - - 14,461 14,461
Other comprehensive expense - (518) - (518)
Total comprehensive (expense)/
 income for the year - (518) 14,461 13,943

Transactions with equity holders,
 recorded directly in equity
Distribution to shareholders
Dividend paid - - (32,484) (32,484)

As at 30 June 2013 196,439 (813) 100,979 296,605

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

 ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

    Foreign
    exchange  Share Non-
  Share Capital translation Revenue capital & controlling
  capital reserves account reserves reserves interests Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group

As at 1 July 2013 196,439 (2,413) (72,048) 227,936 349,914 32,123 382,037

Total comprehensive (expense)/
 income for the year
Profit for the year - - - 12,772 12,772 331 13,103
Other comprehensive (expense)/
 income - (5,707) 51,133 - 45,426 (215) 45,211
Total comprehensive (expense)/
 income for the year - (5,707) 51,133 12,772 58,198 116 58,314

Transactions with equity holders, 
 recorded directly in equity
Distribution to shareholders
Dividend paid (Note 24) - - - (151,593) (151,593) - (151,593)
Changes in ownership in interests 
 in subsidiary
Disposal of subsidiary - - - - - (32,239) (32,239)

As at 30 June 2014 196,439 (8,120) (20,915) 89,115 256,519 - 256,519

As at 1 July 2012 196,439 8,873 (72,450) 205,850 338,712 31,233 369,945

Total comprehensive (expense)/
 income for the year
Profit for the year - - - 54,570 54,570 742 55,312
Other comprehensive (expense)/
 income - (11,286) 402 - (10,884) 148 (10,736)
Total comprehensive (expense)/
 income for the year - (11,286) 402 54,570 43,686 890 44,576

Transactions with equity holders,
 recorded directly in equity
Distribution to shareholders
Dividend paid - - - (32,484) (32,484) - (32,484)

As at 30 June 2013 196,439 (2,413) (72,048) 227,936 349,914 32,123 382,037
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014

  30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Operating profit
 Continuing operations  25,774 64,912
 Discontinued operations  (3,114) 6,268
   22,660 71,180
Adjustments:
 Depreciation and amortisation  26,579 26,617
 Accretion of interest income on held-to-maturity financial assets  (2,094) (1,896)
 Investment income (non-cash)  (19,470) -
 Profit on disposal of fixed assets  (4,405) (3,416)
 Profit on sale of investments  (12) (29,759)
 Loss on disposal of subsidiary  8,675 -
Cash flow from operations before changes in working capital  31,933 62,726
Working capital changes:
 Stocks  (3,742) 14,986
 Debtors  (1,939) (1,299)
 Creditors  (2,778) (93)
 Translation of foreign subsidiaries and others  (991) 882
Cash from operations  22,483 77,202
 Interest paid  (8,194) (9,829)
 Income tax paid  (15,718) (8,808)
Net cash (used)/generated from operating activities  (1,429) 58,565

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Disposal of subsidiary A 153,474 -
Purchase of fixed assets  (43,048) (58,946)
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets  22,087 10,734
Distributions from associated company and joint venture  2,134 5,430
Net proceeds from disposal and capital distribution of investments  3,085 53,624
Net cash from investing activities  137,732 10,842

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from term loans  34,366 -
Repayment of term loans  (25,767) (1,487)
Dividends paid to shareholders of the Company  (151,593) (32,484)
Net cash used in financing activities  (142,994) (33,971)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (6,691) 35,436
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  77,617 41,446
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (324) 735
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  70,602 77,617

Comprising:
Cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations  70,602 74,949
Cash and cash equivalents from discontinued operations  - 2,668
   70,602 77,617

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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A. Disposal of subsidiary

  30.06.14
  $’000

 Fixed assets (202,196)
 Associated company (70,773)
 Intangibles (113,643)
 Other assets (3,589)
 Stock (4,912)
 Debtors (8,982)
 Cash and cash equivalents (2,546)
 Creditors 5,658 
 Amount due to associated company and joint venture 9 
 Short term loans 1,411 
 Provision for taxation 1,389
 Long term loans 154,330
 Deferred taxation 81,099
 Deferred liabilities 745
 Capital reserve (413)
 Foreign exchange translation reserves (54,924)
 Minority interest 32,239
 Net carrying value of assets disposed (185,098)
 Net loss on disposal 8,675
 Sales proceeds  (176,423)
 Sales proceeds in escrow 20,403
 Net sales proceeds received (156,020)
 Bank balance and cash disposed 2,546
 Cash flow on disposal net of cash disposed (153,474)
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the financial year ended 30 June 2014

These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1. General
 The Company is incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of Singapore and is listed on the Singapore Exchange 

Securities Trading Limited.  The address of its principal place of business and registered office is 1 HarbourFront Avenue, 
#18-01 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632.

 The principal activities of the Company are to invest in a wide range of investments across diverse industry sectors.

 The principal activities of the subsidiaries are detailed in Note 6 to the financial statements.

 During the financial year, the Group disposed of its transportation leasing operation, Long Haul Holding Corp (“Helm”).

 The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 30 June 2014 and the balance sheet 
and statement of changes in equity of the Company as at 30 June 2014 were authorised for issue in accordance with a 
resolution of the Board of Directors on 4 September 2014.

2. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of Preparation
 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and 

Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 
convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

  
 Adoption of New and Revised Standards
 In the current year, the Group adopted the new/revised FRS and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are effective 

for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as 
required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS.

 The following are the new or amended FRS that are relevant to the Group:

 Amendments to FRS 1  Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income
 Amendments to FRS 107 Disclosure-Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
 FRS113  Fair Value Measurement

 The adoption of the above FRS did not result in any substantial change to the Group’s accounting policies or any 
significant impact on the financial statements.

 New accounting standards and interpretations
 At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following FRS and amendments to FRS that are relevant to the 

Group and the Company have been issued but are not yet effective:
   
 Revised FRS 27 Separate Financial Statements
 Revised FRS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
 FRS 110 Consolidated Financial Statements
 FRS 111 Joint Arrangements
 FRS 112 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
 Amendments to FRS 32 Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities

 Management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRS and amendments to FRS in future periods is not expected to 
have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and the Company in the period of their initial adoption.
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b) Basis of consolidation
 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at the 

balance sheet date.

 The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the financial year are included or excluded from the 
consolidated financial statements from their respective dates of acquisition or disposal. All intercompany transactions, 
balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Where necessary, 
adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to ensure consistency of accounting policies with those 
of the Group.

 Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. The interest of non-
controlling shareholders that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the 
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured (at date of original business combination) either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. 
The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests 
are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another FRS. Subsequent to acquisition, the 
carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling 
interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests 
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

 Changes in the Group’s interest in a subsidiary that does not result in a loss of control is accounted for as an equity 
transaction. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the 
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling 
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed 
to owners of the Company.

 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the 
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous 
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. 
Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the 
relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of. The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date 
when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an 
associated company or joint venture.

 Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is 
measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and 
equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised 
in profit or loss as incurred. The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions 
for recognition under FRS 103 (Revised) are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date.

c)  Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations
 Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale and stated at the lower of carrying amount 

and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use.

 A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of, or that is classified as held for sale 
and:
(i)  represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; or
(ii)  is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of 

operations; or
(iii)  is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.
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d)  Fixed assets 
 Fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value.  When the carrying amount of 

an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down to its recoverable amount.  Profits or losses 
on disposal of fixed assets are included in the profit and loss account.

  
 Depreciation of fixed assets is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of the fixed assets over their 

estimated useful lives. No depreciation is provided on freehold land and capital work-in-progress. The estimated useful 
lives of other fixed assets are as follows:

 Rail equipment held for lease 1 to 20 years 
 Plant, machinery & equipment 3 to 7 years 
  
 Rail equipment held for lease consists of railcars and locomotives. These assets are either leased or held for lease. Rail 

equipment being leased is accounted for under the operating lease method. Rail equipment is principally stated at cost, 
including costs incurred to recondition the equipment.

 Capital work-in-progress includes rail equipment in the process of being refurbished or awaiting refurbishment and is 
carried at cost plus refurbishment costs. 

 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect of any 
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

e) Subsidiaries
 A subsidiary is an entity over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain 

benefits from its activities. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible 
are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another entity.

 Investments in subsidiaries are stated in the Company’s financial statements at cost less any impairment losses. 

f) Associated company and joint ventures
 An associated company is an entity, not being a subsidiary, over which the Group has significant influence, but not 

control, in the operating and financial policy decisions.

 A joint venture is a company, not being a subsidiary or associated company, over which the Group has a long term 
interest of not more than 50% of the equity and has joint control over the investee company’s operating and financial 
policy decisions.

 Investments in associated company or joint ventures are stated in the Company’s financial statements at cost less any 
impairment losses. On disposal of an associated company or joint ventures, the difference between net disposal proceeds 
and the carrying amount of the investment is taken to profit and loss account.

 Investments in associated company and joint ventures are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using 
the equity method of accounting whereby the Group’s share of profit or loss of the associated company and joint 
ventures is included in the profit and loss account and the Group’s share of net assets of the associated company and 
joint ventures is included in the balance sheet.

 Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 
contingent liabilities of the associated company and joint ventures recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as 
goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part 
of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after re-assessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 When a Group entity transacts with an associated company and joint venture of the Group, profits and losses are 
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associated company and joint venture.
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g) Investments
 Effective interest method 
 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating 

interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or 
where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments 
other than those financial instruments “at fair value through profit or loss”.

 Available-for-sale
 Investments classified as available-for-sale investments are initially measured at fair value plus directly attributable 

transaction costs.

 Investments are recognised and derecognised on the trade-date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a 
contract whose terms require delivery of investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned.  

 Any resultant gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in other comprehensive income, 
until the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to the profit and loss account.  

 The fair value of quoted investments is based on current bid prices. For investments where there is no active market, 
the fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s length transactions, 
reference to the underlying net asset value of the investee companies, discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing 
models. For unquoted equity investments without quoted market prices in active markets whose fair values cannot be 
reliably measured by management using alternative valuation methods, such investments are carried at cost less any 
impairment loss.

 The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is determined in that foreign 
currency and translated at the spot rate at end of the reporting period. The change in fair value attributable to translation 
differences that result from a change in amortised cost of the asset is recognised in profit or loss, and other changes are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.

 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that an investment is impaired. A 
significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost is considered in determining whether 
the investment is impaired. If any such evidence exists, the cumulative loss - measured as the difference between the 
acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit 
or loss is removed from equity and recognised in the profit and loss account. Impairment losses recognised in the profit 
and loss account are not reversed through the profit and loss account until the investment is disposed of.

 
 Held-to-maturity
 Investments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates where the Group has a positive interest and 

ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment with revenue recognised on an effective yield basis.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
 Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as at FVTPL.

 A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

•  it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near future; or
• it is a part of an identified portfolio of financial instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent 

actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 
• it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging instrument.
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 A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

• such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would 
otherwise arise; or 

• the financial asset forms part of a group of financial assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s documented risk management or 
investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

• it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded derivatives, and FRS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as at FVTPL.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in 
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial 
asset and is included in ‘other gains and losses’ line in the statement of comprehensive income/income statement.

h) Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting 
 Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivative financial instruments are carried as assets when the fair value is positive 
and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

 Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge 
accounting are taken to the profit and loss account.

 
 Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective as hedges of future cash 

flows are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss. If the cash flow hedge of a firm commitment or forecast transaction results in the recognition of an asset 
or a liability, then, at the time the asset or liability is recognised, the associated gains or losses on the derivative that had 
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are included in the initial measurement of the asset or 
liability. For hedges that do not result in the recognition of an asset or a liability, amounts deferred in equity are recognised 
in profit or loss in the same period in which the hedged item affects profit or loss.  

 Payments or receipts under interest rate cap and swap agreements are recorded as an adjustment to finance expense.

i) Impairment of assets
 Financial Assets
 The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of 

financial assets is impaired and recognizes an allowance for impairment when such evidence exists. 

 Loans and receivables
 Significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or significant delay in payment are objective evidence that the 

financial assets are impaired. The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account 
and the loss is recognised in the profit and loss account. When the asset becomes uncollectible, the carrying amount 
is written off against the allowance account. If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be objectively measured, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extend that 
the carrying amount does not exceed the amortised cost had no impairment been recognised in the prior periods. The 
amount of reversal is recognised in the profit and loss account. 

 Investments
 Significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost is considered in determining whether 

the investment is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss - measured 
as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in the profit and loss account is removed from equity and recognised in the profit and loss account. 
For available-for-sale investments, impairment losses previously recognised in the profit and loss account are not reversed 
through the profit and loss account until the investments is disposed of.
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 Non-Financial Assets
 At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets (excluding 

goodwill) to determine whether there is any indication that these assets may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of fair value less cost to sell and value in use) of the asset is estimated to determine 
the amount of impairment loss.

 For the purpose of impairment testing of these assets, recoverable amount is determined on an individual asset basis 
unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, 
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 If the recoverable amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. The impairment loss is recognised in the profit and 
loss account.

 An impairment loss for an asset is reversed if, and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 
asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised.  The carrying amount of the asset is increased 
to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of 
impairment loss for an asset is recognised in the profit and loss account.

j) Debt issuance costs
 Debt issuance costs are capitalised when incurred and amortised over the term of the debt. The unamortised portion of 

debt issuance costs associated with early termination of the debt is recognised in the profit and loss account immediately.

k) Intangibles
 Goodwill
 Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired. Goodwill is 

measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

 If, after re-assessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 Goodwill is not amortised but is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment testing, 
goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account when the carrying amount of the cash-
generating unit, including goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit. The impairment loss 
is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating units and then, to reduce 
the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro-rata basis. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not 
reversed in a subsequent period.

 Customer relationships and other intangibles
 Customer relationships were valued using the excess earnings method and were amortised on a straight-line basis over 

their useful life of 15 years.

 Other intangible assets related to trademarks were valued using the excess earnings method and were amortised on a 
straight-line basis over their useful life of 10 years. Other intangible assets were previously fully impaired to a fair value of 
zero.
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 At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its customer relationships and other 
intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If 
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and 
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, 
or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent 
allocation basis can be identified.  An impairment loss is recognised in the profit and loss account when the carrying 
amount of the asset exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset.

l) Operating leases

(i) When the Group is the lessee
 Leases of assets in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 

classified as operating leases.  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentive received from lessor) 
are taken to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.  

(ii) When the Group is the lessor
 Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentive given to lessee) is recognised on a straight-line basis over 

the lease term.

m) Stocks
 Stocks include consumable supplies and spares and goods held for sale. Consumable supplies and spares are stated at 

the lower of cost or net realisable value, cost being principally determined on average cost method.

n) Provisions
 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is 

probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can 
be made.

o) Revenue recognition
 Revenue from continuing operations consists of proceeds from disposal of investments, investment income, interest 

income, and others.  

 Revenue from discontinued operations relates to transportation leasing is recognised over the term of the lease. Deferred 
revenue results from cash collections for which lease revenue has not been earned.  Rental expense on equipment 
owned by others is offset against lease revenues when the equipment is subleased to end-users. 

 Investment income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established, and in the 
case of fixed interest bearing investments, on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.  Interest income 
is recognised on an accrual basis.  Proceeds from disposal of investments, including that of subsidiaries and associates, 
are recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

p) Employee benefits
 Defined contribution plan
 The Group makes contributions to pension schemes as defined by the laws of the countries in which it has operations.  

Contributions to pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the period in which the related service is performed.

 Employee leave entitlement 
 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.  A provision is made for the 

estimated liability for leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the balance sheet date.

q) Asset retirement obligation
 Provision for asset retirement obligation is recorded for legally obligated asset retirement costs associated with tangible 

long-lived assets when the obligation to perform the asset retirement activity is unconditional, even if uncertainty exists 
with regard to the timing or method of settling the obligation.
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r) Income taxes
 Current income tax liabilities (and assets) for current and prior periods are recognised at the amounts expected to be 

paid to (or recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the balance sheet date.

  
 Deferred income tax assets/liabilities are recognised for deductible/taxable temporary differences arising between the tax 

bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts.  The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation and 
amortisation, revaluation of investments, unremitted offshore income and future tax benefits from certain provisions not 
allowed for tax purposes until a later period.  Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no 
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. Deferred 
tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its 
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in the profit and loss account, except when they 
relate to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity), in 
which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively), or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a business 
combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess of the acquirer’s 
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost.

s) Financial assets
 Financial assets include cash and bank balances, trade, intercompany and other receivables and investments. Trade, 

intercompany and other receivables are stated at their fair values as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts.

 Derecognition of financial assets
 The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or 

it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If 
the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have 
to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

t) Financial liabilities 
 Financial liabilities include trade, intercompany, other payables and term loans.  Trade, intercompany and other payables 

are stated at their fair values. Interest-bearing term loans are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is 
taken to the profit and loss account over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. Finance costs 
are accounted for on an accrual basis (effective yield method) and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to 
the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities
 The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or 

they expire.

u) Equity instruments
 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its 

liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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v) Foreign currencies 
 Functional currency
 Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency that best reflects 

the economic substance of the underlying events and circumstances relevant to that entity (“functional currency”).

 The financial statements of the Group and the balance sheet and statement of changes in equity of the Company are 
presented in Singapore Dollars, which is the functional currency of the Company.

 Foreign currency transactions
 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates approximating those ruling at the transaction dates. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are translated at exchange 
rates approximating those ruling at that date. Exchange differences arising from translation of monetary assets and 
liabilities are taken to the profit and loss account. Exchange differences on non-monetary items, such as available-for-sale 
investments, are included in other comprehensive income.

 Foreign currency translation
 For inclusion in the Group’s financial statements, the assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries and associated companies 

that are in functional currencies other than Singapore Dollars are translated into Singapore Dollars at the exchange rates 
ruling at the balance sheet date. The trading results of foreign subsidiaries and associated companies are translated into 
Singapore Dollars using the average exchange rates for the financial year. Exchange differences due to such currency 
translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate component of equity. Goodwill 
and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as non-monetary foreign currency assets 
and liabilities of the foreign operation and recorded at the closing exchange rate.

w) Cash and cash equivalents
 Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid investments with maturity of three months or less.

x) Share capital
 Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of the new ordinary shares 

are deducted against the share capital amount.

y) Critical accounting estimates and judgements

(i) Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies
 In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management is of the opinion that there is no instance 

of application of judgments which is expected to have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements, apart from those involving estimations described below.

(ii)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty
 The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet 

date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, are as follows:

 Impairment of available-for-sale investments
 Determining whether available-for-sale investments are other than temporarily impaired requires an assumption 

made regarding the duration or extent to which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost, and the 
financial health of and near-term business outlook for the investee, including factors such as industry and sector 
performance, changes in technology and operational and financing cashflow. The fair value of available-for-sale 
investments is disclosed in Note 8.

 Income taxes
 The Group has exposure to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant assumptions are required in 

determining the provision for income taxes. There are certain transactions and computations for which the ultimate 
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognizes liabilities for expected 
tax issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due and derecognises liabilities when such 
obligations are no longer expected or discharged. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from 
the amounts that were initially recognised, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions 
in the period in which such determination is made.  The carrying amount of taxation and deferred taxation is 
disclosed in the balance sheet.
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  COMPANY AND GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  ’000 $’000 ’000 $’000

 Issued and paid up Ordinary shares:
 Balance at beginning and end of the year  2,165,618 196,439 2,165,618 196,439

 Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to dividends declared by the 
Company.

 There are no outstanding share options of the Company as at the end of the financial year.

4. Reserves

  COMPANY GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Capital reserve:
  Fair value reserve (924) (813) (8,120) (1,810)
  Hedging reserve - - - (603)
   (924) (813) (8,120) (2,413)

 Foreign exchange translation account - - (20,915) (72,048)

 Revenue reserves 6,512 100,979 89,115 227,936
   5,588 100,166 60,080 153,475

 Movements in the Group’s and the Company’s reserves are set out in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Statement of Changes in Equity respectively.

5. Fixed assets

   Capital Rail Plant,
   work equipment machinery
   in held &
   progress for lease equipment Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 30.06.14

 Cost:
  At beginning of year 8,418 470,696 2,444 481,558
  Disposal of subsidiary - (482,692) (1,968) (484,660)
  Additions 5,240 37,779 29 43,048
  Disposals - (36,178) (393) (36,571)
  Reclassification
  - Other fixed asset category (13,583) 13,583 - -
  Exchange differences (75) (3,188) (22) (3,285)
  At end of year - - 90 90

 Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses:
  At beginning of year - 274,760 2,396 277,156
  Disposal of subsidiary - (280,538) (1,926) (282,464)
  Charges for the year - 25,858 33 25,891
  Disposals - (18,569) (393) (18,962)
  Exchange differences - (1,511) (20) (1,531)
  At end of year - - 90 90

 Net book value - - - -

Notes to the Financial Statements
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   Capital Rail Plant,
   work equipment machinery
   in held &
   progress for lease equipment Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 30.06.13

 Cost:
  At beginning of year 8,617 430,504 2,435 441,556
  Additions 40,872 18,066 8 58,946
  Disposals - (13,431) (4) (13,435)
  Reclassification/Transfer (41,090) 34,837 - (6,253)
  Exchange differences 19 720 5 744
  At end of year 8,418 470,696 2,444 481,558

 Accumulated depreciation & impairment losses:
  At beginning of year - 254,440 2,286 256,726
  Charges for the year - 25,576 107 25,683
  Disposals - (5,940) (4) (5,944)
  Reclassification/Transfer - (255) - (255)
  Exchange differences - 939 7 946
  At end of year - 274,760 2,396 277,156

 Net book value 8,418 195,936 48 204,402

 As of 30 June 2014, the net book value of the Company’s fixed assets is nil (2013: nil).

 In 2013, rail equipment held for lease, capital work in progress and plant, machinery and equipment of a subsidiary are 
pledged to banks for term loan facilities (Note 16).

6. Subsidiaries

  COMPANY

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

 Unquoted shares, at cost 118,539 273,504

 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

   Place of 
 Effective equity Cost of incorporation/ Principal 
 interest investment operation activities

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
  % % $’000 $’000

 Subsidiaries

 Held by the Company

 Focus Up Holdings Ltd(1) 100 100 39,071 39,071 British Virgin Investment
      Islands holding

 K-1 Holdings Equity I, Inc(1) 100 100 27,875 27,875 United States Investment
      of America holding

 k1 Ventures (Hong Kong) Ltd(2) - 100 - 5,663 Hong Kong Investment
       holding



57

CONFIGURED
FOR VALUE

Notes to the Financial Statements

   Place of 
 Effective equity Cost of incorporation/ Principal 
 interest investment operation activities

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
  % % $’000 $’000

 FSHCO Holdings Pte Ltd(4) 100 100 51,593 51,593 Singapore Investment
       holding

 Long Haul Holding Corporation(3) - 80.1 - 149,302 United States Investment
      of America holding

    118,539 273,504

 Held by subsidiaries

 PRB Corp(1) 100 100 - - United States Investment
      of America holding

 Powder River, LLC(1) 80.1 80.1 - - United States Investment
      of America holding

 DFS Holdings I Limited(1) 100 100 - - British Virgin Investment
      Islands holding

 DFS Holdings II Limited(1) 100 100 - - British Virgin Investment
      Islands holding

 DFS Holdings I Corp(1) 100 100 - - United States Investment
      of America holding

 Long Haul Holding II Corp(3) - 80.1 - - United States Transportation 
     of America leasing

 Helm Financial Corporation(3) - 80.1 - - United States Transportation 
     of America leasing

 Helm Locomotive Leasing - 80.1 - - United States Transportation
  Corporation(3)     of America leasing

 Helm General Corporation(3) - 80.1 - - United States Transportation 
     of America leasing

 Helm Pacific Corporation(3) - 80.1 - - United States Transportation 
     of America leasing

 Helm Environmental Solutions, - 80.1 - - United States Transportation
  LLC(3)     of America leasing

 Notes:
 (1)   Audited for consolidation purposes as not required to be audited by law in its country of incorporation.
 (2)   Liquidated during the year.
 (3)   Disposed during the year.
 (4)   Audited by Deloitte &Touche LLP, Singapore.
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7. Associated company and joint ventures
 During the year, the Group disposed of its associated company and joint ventures.

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

 Unquoted shares at cost - 32,329
 Share of post-acquisition reserves, net of dividends received - 34,100
  - 66,429

 Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associated company 
 is set out below:

 Total assets - 48,552
 Total liabilities - 14,512
 Revenue - 88,263
 Profit for the year - 4,942

 Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s joint ventures 
 is set out below:

 Current assets - 12,217
 Non-current assets - 296,894
 Current liabilities - 4,462
 Non-current liabilities - 202,568
 Revenue - 53,098
 Profit for the year - 17,226

 Details of the Group’s joint ventures and associated company, all of which were held by subsidiaries, are as follows:

  Place of 
 Effective equity incorporation/ Principal 
 interest operation activities

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  % %

 Joint Ventures

 Helm-Pacific Leasing(1) - 40 United States Transportation
    of America leasing

 Helm Chesapeake LP(1) - 29 United States Transportation
    of America leasing

 Associated Company

 Metro East Industries, Inc(1) - 30 United States Repair and
    of America restoration of
     locomotives
     and railcars

 Note:
 (1)   Disposed during the year.
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8. Investments

  COMPANY GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Available-for-sale:
 Quoted investments, at fair value - - 12,825 -
 Unquoted investments, at fair value (1) 1,698 1,692 5,541 7,646
   1,698 1,692 18,366 7,646
 Unquoted equity investments, at cost (2) 15,506 15,750 23,175 23,684
   17,204 17,442 41,541 31,330

 Held-to-maturity:
 Held-to-maturity financial assets, at amortised cost (3) - - 115,155 115,213

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
 Warrants - - 11,235 11,411
   17,204 17,442 167,931 157,954

(1) Based on net asset valuations with adjustments for market illiquidity.
(2) Stated at cost less impairment, if any, as the fair value cannot be reliably measured i.e. the variability in the range 

of reasonable fair value is significant and the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be reliably assessed. 
Included is an investment of $6.0 million (2013: $6.1 million) where the distributions received were recognised as 
income in the profit and loss statement.

(3) The average effective interest rate of the held to maturity investment is 9.33% (2013: 9.33%) per annum. As 
at 30 June 2014, the held-to-maturity investment has a nominal value amounting to US$100,000,000 (2013: 
US$100,000,000), with a coupon rate of 7% (2013: 7%) per annum and matures in June 2017.

9. Other assets

  COMPANY GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Debt issuance cost - - - 4,348
 Escrow receivable from disposal of subsidiary 7,135 - 8,934 -
 Others - - - 231
   7,135 - 8,934 4,579

 Debt issuance cost relates to discontinued operations. During the year, debt issuance cost amortised to the profit and loss 
accounts from discontinued operation amounted to $1.1 million (2013: $1.3 million).
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10. Intangibles

     Other
    Customer intangible
   Goodwill relationships assets Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 30.06.14

 At beginning of year 106,641 8,554 - 115,195
 Amortisation - (688) - (688)
 Disposal of subsidiary (105,850) (7,793) - (113,643)
 Exchange differences (791) (73) - (864)
 At end of year - - - -

 30.06.13

 At beginning of year 106,406 9,489 - 115,895
 Amortisation - (934) - (934)
 Exchange differences 235 (1) - 234
 At end of year 106,641 8,554 - 115,195
 
 Comprised:
  Cost less impairment loss 106,641 17,051 13,529 137,221
  Accumulated amortisation - (8,497) (13,529) (22,026)
   106,641 8,554 - 115,195

 Other intangible assets comprise trademarks.

 Impairment testing of goodwill, customer relationships and other intangible assets
 In 2013, goodwill is allocated for impairment testing purposes to the individual subsidiary which is also the cash-

generating unit within discontinued operations.

 The recoverable amount is determined from both comparable public company analysis and value in use calculations. 
The key assumptions for the value in use calculations are those regarding discount rates, growth rates, market price 
earnings multiples and estimates of forecasted revenue and profitability.  The value in use was computed by applying the 
discounted cash flow model using cash flow projections derived from the most recent financial budgets approved by 
management covering a five-year period using an average discount rate and long term growth rate of 11% and 4% per 
annum, respectively.

 The growth rate used did not exceed the long term average growth rate of the respective industry and country in which 
the disposed subsidiary operates. The discount rates applied to the cash flow projections were derived from the cost 
of capital plus a reasonable risk premium at the date of the assessment of the subsidiary. Management performed a 
sensitivity analysis assessing the impact of a change in key assumptions. Due to the wide range of values derived, no 
sensitivity analysis has been disclosed as it was not meaningful.

11. Stocks

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

 Consumable supplies and spares - 1,154
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12. Amounts due from/to

  COMPANY

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

 Subsidiaries

 Due from subsidiaries - non-trade 5 3

 Due to subsidiaries - non-trade 516 524

 The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, repayable on demand and interest-free.

 Some of the Company’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the Group and the effects of these on 
the basis determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements.

 
  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

 Associated company and joint ventures

 Due to an associated company and joint ventures - trade - 56

 In 2013, the amounts due to an associated company and joint ventures were unsecured, repayable on demand and 
interest-free.

13. Debtors

  COMPANY GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Trade debtors - - - 6,637
 Allowance for doubtful debts - - - (122)
   - - - 6,515

 Other debtors - non-trade 23 22 448 422
 Escrow receivable from disposal of subsidiary 9,049 - 11,331 -
 Prepayments and deposits  - 4 141 373
 Fair value of derivative instruments  - - - 1
 Tax recoverable - - 768 3,464
   9,072 26 12,688 4,260
 Total 9,072 26 12,688 10,775

 Movement in allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

 At beginning of year 122 115
 Exchange differences (2) 1
 Charge to profit and loss account 1 6
 Disposal of subsidiary (121) -
 At end of year - 122
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14. Deposits, bank balances and cash

  COMPANY GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Deposits, bank balances and cash 4,244 259 23,675 71,107
 Deposits with related parties 46,927 6,510 46,927 6,510
 Cash and cash equivalents 51,171 6,769 70,602 77,617

 Deposits with banks and related parties mature on varying periods between 1 day to 2 months (2013: 7 days to 2 months) 
and bear interest ranging from 0.05% to 0.35% (2013: 0.10% to 0.27% ) per annum.

15. Creditors

  COMPANY GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Trade creditors - - - 548 
 Accrued expenses 213 191 1,464 8,825
 Sundry creditors 370 424 370 424
 Interest payable - - - 80
   583 615 1,834 9,877

16. Term loans

   GROUP

   Due within Due after
   one year one year Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000

 30.06.14
 Term loans - - -

 30.06.13
 Term loans 1,521 147,203 148,724

 Term loans was related to discontinued operations.

 The loan is collateralised by all of the owned rail equipment and related lease contracts, accounts receivable and rail 
equipment held for refurbishment of a disposed subsidiary. The net book value of the assets collateralised on the term 
loans amounted to $294 million as at 30 June 2013.

 The fair values of the term loans, determined based on discounted cash flows using a discount rate based upon the 
borrowing rate which management expects would be available to the Group at the balance sheet date, approximate their 
carrying amounts.

 Term loans due after one year are estimated to be repayable as follows:

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

 Years after year-end:
 After one but within two years - 1,521
 After two but within five years - 145,682
  - 147,203
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17. Deferred liabilities

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

 Deferred revenue - 492
 Asset retirement obligation - 385
  - 877

18. Deferred taxation

  COMPANY GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 At beginning of year - 30 82,530 90,277
 Exchange difference - - (764) 143
 (Write-back)/charge for the year - (30) 1,094 (1,588)
 Subsidiary disposed - - (81,099) -
 Transfer to provision for taxation - - - (6,302)
 At end of year - - 1,761 82,530

 Deferred taxation recognised arises as a result of:

 Deferred tax liabilities:
  Accelerated tax depreciation - - - 47,060
  Interest in associated company and 
     joint ventures (undistributed profits) - - - 35,814
  Intangibles - - - 3,464
  Offshore income and other provisions - - 1,761 65
   - - 1,761 86,403

 Deferred tax assets:
  Other provisions - - - (3,436)
  Unutilised tax losses and benefits - - - (437)
   - - - (3,873)

 Net deferred tax liabilities - - 1,761 82,530

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for unutilised tax benefits carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related 
tax benefits through future taxable profits is probable.

 Deferred tax assets do not include the Group’s unutilised tax losses of $32.1 million (2013: $44.2 million) that can be 
carried forward and used to offset against future taxable income subject to meeting certain statutory requirements by 
those companies with unrecognised tax losses in their respective countries of incorporation.
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19. Revenue

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
    $’000 $’000

 Continuing operations
 Proceeds from sale of investments* 12 55,590
 Investment income 31,523 40,298
 Interest income from:
  - Related parties 86 7
  - Others 25 43
 Others (2) -
    31,644 95,938

 Discontinued operations
 Revenue from transportation leasing 43,506 64,875
 Interest income from:
  - Others 1 1
 Others 7,593 7,175
 Consideration for sale of business 176,423 -
    227,523 72,051

    259,167 167,989

* This is stated at gross. For financial year ended 30 June 2013, the net gain from sale of investments is $29.8 million, net of cost of $25.8 million.

20. Staff costs

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

 Salaries and wages 6,937 8,036
 Pension contributions 480 571
 Other staff expenses 518 650
  7,935 9,257
 Less: Amounts attributable to discontinued operations (7,754) (9,095)
 Total 181 162

21. Operating profit
 
 Operating profit is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the following:

  CONTINUING OPERATIONS DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Emoluments to Directors 
  of the Company 259 320 - - 259 320
 Depreciation of fixed assets 1 - 25,890 25,683 25,891 25,683
 Amortisation of intangibles - - 688 934 688 934
 Auditors’ remuneration:
  Auditors of the Company 89 96 - - 89 96
  Other auditors - 3 107 696 107 699
 Profit on disposal of fixed assets - - (4,405) (3,416) (4,405) (3,416)
 Profit on sale of investments (12) (29,759) - - (12) (29,759)
 Loss on disposal of subsidiary - - 8,675 - 8,675 -
 Provision for doubtful debts - - 1 6 1 6
 Management fees 5,203 4,244 - - 5,203 4,244
 Repair and maintenance - - 6,276 6,645 6,276 6,645
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  CONTINUING OPERATIONS DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Non-audit fee:
  Auditors of the Company 4 4 - - 4 4
  Other auditors - - 136 302 136 302

22. Taxation

  CONTINUING OPERATIONS DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Current tax:
  Tax expense 3,387 14,124 145 1,315 3,532 15,439
  Under/(over) provision for
   prior year 1,921 (28) - - 1,921 (28)
  Others 30 - - - 30 -
    5,338 14,096 145 1,315 5,483 15,411

 Deferred tax:
  Movements in temporary 
   differences (3) - 1,060 (1,558) 1,057 (1,558)
  Over provision for prior year - (30) - - - (30)
    5,335 14,066 1,205 (243) 6,540 13,823

 The income tax expense/(credit) on the results of the Group differs from the amount of income tax expense/(credit) 
determined by applying the Singapore standard rate of income tax of 17% to profit/(loss) before tax due to the following:

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  $’000 $’000

 Profit before tax:
 Continuing operations 25,450 65,647
 Discontinued operations (5,807) 3,488
  19,643 69,135

 Tax expense calculated at tax rate of 17% (2013:17%) 3,339 11,753
 Income not subject to tax (28,909) (5,184)
 Effect of different tax rates in other countries 4,193 6,643
 Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 25,966 669
 Under/(over) provision for prior year 1,921 (58)
 Others 30 -
  6,540 13,823
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23. Earnings per share

  CONTINUING AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS CONTINUING OPERATIONS
 GROUP GROUP

 30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
  Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Net profit attributable to 
  shareholders of 
  the Company 12,772 12,772 54,570 54,570 20,115 20,115 51,581 51,581

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
  Number of Shares Number of Shares Number of Shares Number of Shares
  ‘000 ‘000 ‘000 ‘000

 Weighted average number 
  of ordinary shares 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618

 Weighted average number 
  of ordinary shares
  used to compute 
  earnings per share 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618 2,165,618

 Earnings per ordinary 
  share (cents) 0.59 0.59 2.52 2.52 0.93 0.93 2.38 2.38

24. Dividends

  $’000

 During the financial year, the following dividends were paid:

 Final tax exempt one-tier dividend of 2.0 cents per share on the issued and paid up 
 ordinary shares in respect of the financial year ended 30 June 2013 43,312

 Interim tax exempt one-tier dividend of 5.0 cents per share on the issued and paid up 
 ordinary shares in respect of the current financial year 108,281

  151,593

25. Significant related party transactions
 Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effects of these on the basis 

determined between the parties are reflected in these financial statements.

 Significant related party transactions (continuing and discontinued operations):

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
    $’000 $’000

 Revenue
 Substantial shareholder and its subsidiaries
  Interest income 86 7

 Associated company and joint ventures
  Management and marketing fee 3,015 3,467
   3,101 3,474

 Expenses
 Substantial shareholder and its subsidiaries
  Professional fee, office rental and other expenses 682 667
  Management fee 5,203 4,244

 Associated company and joint ventures
  Repair costs - 2,126
   5,885 7,037
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26. Capital commitments

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
    $’000 $’000

 Capital expenditure not provided for in the financial statements
 In respect of contracts placed:
  - for overhaul of locomotives - 4,999

 Capital commitments in the previous financial year related to discontinued operations.

27. Operating lease commitment

(a) Lessee’s lease commitments

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000

 Minimum lease payments under operating
  leases recognised as an expense in the year - 446

 At the balance sheet date, the commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases of office space with a 
term of more than one year were as follows:

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000

 Within one year - 555
 Second to fifth year - 1,609

(b) Lessor’s lease commitments

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000

 Minimum rental income - 43,039

 Lessor’s lease commitments are related to discontinued operations. At the balance sheet date, the minimum lease 
payments receivable in respect of non-cancellable operating leases of rail equipment with a term of more than one 
year were as follows:

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000

 Within one year - 35,018
 Second to fifth year - 64,920
 Fifth year and onwards - 10,141

 Rail equipment was leased to end-users under operating leases with initial terms ranging from one month to seven 
years.
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28. Financial risk management
 The activities of the Group are exposed to a variety of financial risks, including the effect of changes in debt and equity 

market prices, foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates. The Group manages its risk through diversification of 
investments. The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

 Market risk

i) Interest rate risk
 The Group has exposure to market risk for changes in interest rate and such exposure relates to investment in fixed 

deposits. The Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge investment in fixed deposits. Where 
necessary, the Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge interest rate risks related to term loans in the 
previous financial year.  

 Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
 A change of 0.5% (2013: 0.5%) in interest rate at the reporting date would increase/decrease profit/(loss) for the year 

by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant.

  Profit/(loss) for the year
  0.5% increase 0.5% decrease

  $’000 $’000

 Group
 30.06.14

 Deposits with financial institutions 85 (85)
 Deposits with related parties 196 (196)

 30.06.13

 Deposits with financial institutions 278 (278)
 Deposits with related parties 28 (28)
 Term loans (483) 483
 
ii) Currency risk
 The Group has currency deposits and transactions denominated in foreign currencies arising from its investing 

activities, primarily the US dollar.  The Group’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate 
movement of these foreign currencies against the Singapore dollar, which is the Group’s reporting currency.  The 
Group does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge such risk.

 The Company has investments in foreign subsidiaries, whose net assets are exposed to currency translation risk.  
Exchange differences arising from the translation are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in a separate component of equity.

 At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of unhedged monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies other than the respective Group entities’ functional currencies are as follows:

  30.06.14 30.06.13
  USD USD
   $’000 $’000

 Group

 Financial Assets
 Available-for-sale investments 17,204 17,442
 Deposits, bank balances and cash 6,395 50,007

 Company

 Financial Assets
 Available-for-sale investments 17,204 17,442
 Deposits, bank balances and cash 6,395 291

 Financial Liabilities
 Amounts due to subsidiaries - non-trade 516 524
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 Sensitivity analysis for currency risk
 If the relevant foreign currency change against SGD by 5% (2013: 5%) with all other variables held constant, the 

effects will be as follows:

  PROFIT/(LOSS) EQUITY

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 USD against SGD
  - Strengthened 321 2,501 860 872
  - Weakened (321) (2,501) (860) (872)

 Company
 USD against SGD
  - Strengthened 295 (11) 860 872
  - Weakened (295) 11 (860) (872)

 Price risk
 The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk arising from an equity investment classified as an available-for-sale 

investment.

 Sensitivity analysis for price risk
 If prices for quoted investments increase/decrease by 5% (2013: 5%) with all other variables held constant, the Group’s fair 

value reserve in equity would have been higher/lower by $417,000 (2013: $1,203,000) as result of higher/lower fair value 
gains on available-for-sale investments.

 Credit risk
 For the financial years ended 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013, no single external customer accounted for 10% or more 

of the Group’s revenue from continuing operations.  The Group does not expect to incur material credit losses on its 
financial assets.

 In the financial year ended 30 June 2013, approximately 28% of the Group’s revenue generated by its transportation 
leasing operations was derived from three major customers.  However, the risk was mitigated due to the financial strength 
of these customers.  It is the Group’s policy to enter into financial instruments with a diversity of credit-worthy customers. 

 Trade debtors that are neither past due nor impaired are substantially companies with good collection track record with 
the Group. Bank deposits, forward foreign exchange contracts, interest rate caps and interest rate swaps are mainly 
transacted with banks of high credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

 The Group has policies in place to ensure that transactions with trade customers are conducted within the Group’s Credit 
and Receivable Policy.  Open credit accounts are reviewed periodically and credit limits revised where appropriate.

 The age analysis of trade debtors past due and/or impaired is as follows:

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
    $’000 $’000

 Past due 0 to 3 months - 1,282
 Past due 3 to 6 months - 354
 Past due over 6 months and partially impaired - 67
    - 1,703

 Liquidity risk
 Prudent liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient cash and marketable securities, internally 

generated cash flows, and the availability of funding resources through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. 
Due to the dynamic nature of business, the Group maintains flexibility in funding by ensuring that ample working capital 
lines are available at any one time.
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28. Financial risk management (continued)

 Investment risk
 The Group’s activities expose it to the effects of changes in debt and equity market prices, resulting from economic and 

non-economic events. Its overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and 
seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group.

 Investment risk exists as a result of changes in economic, industry or geographical factors. The Group’s portfolio of 
financial investments is broadly diversified along industry and product lines, with the objective of mitigating significant 
concentration of investment risk.

 Capital risk
 The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy 

capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.

 The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustment to it, in the light of changes in economic conditions. To 
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to 
shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 
30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013.

 Management monitors capital based on the Group net gearing (times). The Group net gearing (times) is calculated as 
net borrowings divided by total capital. Net borrowings are calculated as total term loans (Note 16) less deposits, bank 
balances and cash (Note 14). Total capital refers to capital employed under equity. As a result of the disposal of Helm 
during the current financial year, the Group had no Net borrowings as at 30 June 2014.

  GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13
    $’000 $’000

 Net borrowings - 71,107

 Total capital 256,519 382,037

 Group net gearing (times) - 0.19

 Fair value of financial instruments
 The Group classifies fair value measurement using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs used in 

making the measurement. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

• Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
• Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)
• Level 3 - Inputs for the asset and liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
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 The following table presents the assets measured at fair value at 30 June 2014.

  Level 1 Level 3 Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000

 Group
 30.06.14

 Available-for-sale investments 12,825 5,541 18,366
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 11,235 11,235
  12,825 16,776 29,601

 30.06.13

 Available-for-sale investments - 7,646 7,646
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss - 11,411 11,411
  - 19,057 19,057

 Company
 30.06.14

 Available-for-sale investments - 1,698 1,698

 30.06.13

 Available-for-sale investments - 1,692 1,692

 The following table presents the reconciliation of available-for-sale investments measured at fair value based on 
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

  COMPANY GROUP

  30.06.14 30.06.13 30.06.14 30.06.13
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 At 1 July 1,692 2,245 7,646 10,198
 Fair value gain recognized in equity 215 212 1,207 1,948
 Distributions (209) (765) (3,312) (4,500)
 At 30 June 1,698 1,692 5,541 7,646

 The following table presents the valuation techniques and key inputs that were used to determine the fair value of 
financial instruments categorised under Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

 Description Fair value as at Valuation Unobservable Range of
  30 June 2014 techniques input unobservable input
  $’000

 Available-for-sale investments 5,541 Net asset value Net asset Not applicable
   and/or discounted value*
   cash flow
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 11,235 N/A** N/A** Not applicable

* Fair value of unquoted equity instruments is determined by reference to the underlying assets value of the investee companies.
** Lack of a reliable valuation technique that includes inputs that reasonably measure the risk return factors and the inherent restrictions on marketability.
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29. Segment analysis

 Financial year ended 30 June 2014

   Continuing Discontinued Total
   Operations Operations Operations

    Transportation
   Investments leasing
   $’000 $’000 $’000

 Revenue 31,644 227,523 259,167

 Segment Results
 Operating profit/(loss) 25,774 (3,114) 22,660
 Finance expenses - (9,646) (9,646)
 Foreign exchange loss (324) - (324)
 Share of results of associated company 
  and joint ventures - 6,953 6,953
 Profit/(loss) before tax 25,450 (5,807) 19,643
 Taxation (5,335) (1,205) (6,540)
 Profit/(loss) for the year 20,115 (7,012) 13,103

 Attributable to:
 Shareholders of the Company 20,115 (7,343) 12,772
 Non-controlling interests - 331 331
   20,115 (7,012) 13,103

 Other information
 Segment assets 260,155 - 260,155
 Segment liabilities 3,636 - 3,636
 Net assets 256,519 - 256,519

 Additions to non-current assets - 43,048 43,048
 Interest income 111 1 112
 Depreciation and amortisation 1 26,578 26,579

 Geographical Information

   Singapore USA Others Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Continuing operations
 External sales 85 31,136 423 31,644
 Non-current assets - 159,662 17,203 176,865

 Discontinued operations
 External sales - 227,523 - 227,523
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 Financial year ended 30 June 2013

   Continuing Discontinued Total
   Operations Operations Operations

    Transportation
   Investments leasing
   $’000 $’000 $’000

 Revenue 95,938 72,051 167,989

 Segment Results
 Operating profit 64,912 6,268 71,180
 Finance expenses - (10,938) (10,938)
 Foreign exchange gain 735 - 735
 Share of results of associated company 
  and joint ventures - 8,158 8,158
 Profit before tax 65,647 3,488 69,135
 Taxation (14,066) 243 (13,823)
 Profit for the year 51,581 3,731 55,312

 Attributable to:
 Shareholders of the Company 51,581 2,989 54,570
 Non-controlling interests - 742 742
   51,581 3,731 55,312

 Other information
 Segment assets 233,303 404,802 638,105
 Segment liabilities 12,683 243,385 256,068
 Net assets 220,620 161,417 382,037

 Investment in associated company 
  and joint ventures - 66,429 66,429
 Additions to non-current assets - 58,946 58,946
 Interest income 50 1 51
 Depreciation and amortisation - 26,617 26,617

 Geographical Information

   Singapore USA Others Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Continuing operations
 External sales 7 95,174 757 95,938
 Non-current assets - 140,513 17,442 157,955

 Discontinued operations
 External sales - 72,051 - 72,051
 Non-current assets - 390,604 - 390,604

Notes:
(a)  The Group is organised into business units based on their products and services and has two reportable operating segments: Investments and 

Transportation Leasing. The Group’s Investment activities consist of the Group’s investments in quoted and unquoted investments. Discontinued 
operations relate to the Transportation Leasing segment which represents Helm’s locomotive and railcar leasing business in North America. 

(b) The Group’s two operating segments operate in three main geographical areas. The operating activities and investment activities are predominantly in 
the USA. There were also investment activities in Hong Kong. Singapore is the home country of the Company and its assets are mainly cash and cash 
equivalents.

(c)  For the year ended 30 June 2014 and 30 June 2013, no single external customer accounted for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue from continuing 
operations. 
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30. Discontinued operations
 Discontinued operations reflect the Group’s activities in Helm, the transportation leasing business in North America. 

 On 21 February 2014, the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Focus Up Holdings Limited announced that they 
had entered into a definitive agreement and plan of merger for the sale of Helm. The transaction was completed on 15 
April 2014. 

 An analysis of the results of discontinued operations is as follows: 

  1 Jul 13 1 Jul 12
  to to
  30 Jun 14 30 Jun 13
   $’000 $’000

 Revenue 51,100 72,051
 Expenses (45,539) (65,783)
 Operating profit 5,561 6,268
 Finance expenses (9,646) (10,938)
 Share of results of associated company and joint ventures 6,953 8,158
 Profit before tax 2,868 3,488
 Taxation (1,205) 243
 Profit for the period 1,663 3,731

 Sale of business
 Consideration 176,423 -
 Net carrying value of assets disposed (185,098) -
 Loss on disposal of discontinued operations (8,675) -
 (Loss)/profit after tax (7,012) 3,731

 The impact of the discontinued operations on the cash flows of the Group is as follows:

  1 Jul 13 1 Jul 12
  to to
  30 Jun 14 30 Jun 13
   $’000 $’000

 Operating cash flows 10,105 29,761
 Investing cash flows (18,827) (42,782)
 Financing cash flows 8,599 (1,487)
 Net cash flows (123) (14,508)
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Interested Person Transactions

Interested persons as defined by the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“Listing Manual”) are 
the Directors, the chief executive officer, or controlling shareholders of the Company, or the associates of any such Director, 
chief executive officer or controlling shareholder.

Interested person transactions carried out during the financial year pursuant to the Shareholders’ Mandate obtained under 
Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual by the Group are as follows:

 Aggregate value of all interested 
 person transactions during the Aggregate value of all
 financial year under review interested person
 (excluding transactions less than transactions conducted
 $100,000 and transactions conducted under a shareholders’
 under shareholders’ mandate mandate pursuant 
 pursuant to Rule 920 of the to Rule 920 of the
Name of interested person SGX Listing Manual) SGX Listing Manual

  1 Jul 13 to 1 Jul 12 to 1 Jul 13 to 1 Jul 12 to
 30 Jun 14 30 Jun 13 30 Jun 14 30 Jun 13
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

General Transactions
KCL Group - - 682 667
Greenstreet Partners  - - 5,203 4,244

Corporate Treasury Transactions
KCL Group - - 47,013 6,517

Total - - 52,898 11,428

Saved as disclosed above, in the Directors’ Report and in the Financial Statements, the Company and its subsidiaries did not 
enter into any material contracts involving the interests of the Directors or controlling shareholders, which are either still 
subsisting at the end of the financial year or, if not then subsisting, entered into since the end of the previous financial year.
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Statistics of Shareholdings
As at 12 September 2014

Issued and fully paid-up capital : S$196,438,640.80
No. of Shares issued : 2,165,618,003
Class of Shares : Ordinary Shares with equal voting rights

 No. of % of
Size of Shareholdings Shareholders Shareholders No. of Shares % of Shares

1 - 999 193  2.11 60,627   0.00
1,000 - 10,000 3,326 36.32 22,069,547   1.02
10,001 - 1,000,000 5,569 60.82 383,018,849  17.69
1,000,001 & above 69 0.75 1,760,468,980   81.29

Total 9,157 100.00 2,165,618,003 100.00

Top Twenty Largest Shareholders as at 12 September 2014

Name of Shareholders No. of Shares % of Shares

Kephinance Investment Pte Ltd 780,313,190 36.03
UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd 591,480,800 27.31
DBS Nominees Pte Ltd           59,990,375 2.77
Citibank Nominees S’pore Pte Ltd 54,085,000 2.50
Lee Pineapple Company Pte Ltd  40,000,000 1.85
DMG & Partners Securities Pte Ltd 37,871,000 1.75
United Overseas Bank Nominees Pte Ltd 25,574,205 1.18
OCBC Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd 14,152,690 0.65
Heng Yong Seng 10,000,000 0.46
Maybank Kim Eng Securities Pte Ltd 9,882,250 0.46
Hong Joo Co Pte Ltd 6,461,000 0.30
DBSN Services Pte Ltd 6,275,482 0.29
HSBC (Singapore) Nominees Pte Ltd 6,215,750 0.29
Bank of S’pore Nominees Pte Ltd 5,657,250 0.26
Chow Swee Liang 5,500,500 0.25
Phillip Securities Pte Ltd 4,809,500 0.22
OCBC Securities Private Ltd 4,752,248 0.22
Morph Investments Ltd 4,620,000 0.21
Chua Geok Lin 4,300,000 0.20
BNP Paribas Securities Services S’pore 4,056,250 0.19

Total 1,675,997,490   77.39
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 Direct Interest Deemed Interest Total interest
Name of shareholders No. of shares % No. of shares % No. of shares %

Kephinance Investment Pte Ltd 780,313,190 36.03   780,313,190 36.03
Keppel Corporation Limited (“KCL”)   780,313,190  36.03 780,313,190 36.03
Temasek Holdings (Private) 
 Limited (“Temasek”)   780,313,190  36.03 780,313,190 36.03
Greenstreet Partners L.P. 176,000,000 8.13   176,000,000 8.13
Green Family Foundation, Inc, (“GFF”) 129,332,800 5.97   129,332,800 5.97
Steven Jay Green   305,332,800 14.10 305,332,800 14.10
Alexander Vahabzadeh 109,000 0.01 265,000,000 12.24 265,109,000 12.24
Kamal Bahamdan 135,000 0.01 265,000,000 12.24 265,135,000 12.24
BV Singapore Holdings Ltd 265,000,000 12.24   265,000,000 12.24
BV Investment Holdings Ltd   265,000,000 12.24 265,000,000 12.24

Notes:
1. The deemed interests of KCL arise from its interest in Kephinance Investment Pte Ltd, a wholly-owned subsidiary of KCL.
2. The deemed interests of Temasek arise from its shareholdings in KCL. Please also refer to Note 1 above.  
3. The deemed interest of Steven Jay Green arise from his interests in Greenstreet Partners L.P. and GFF.
4. The interests of Alexander Vahabzadeh and Kamal Bahamdan arise from their direct interests as well as their interests in BV Singapore Holdings Ltd.
5. The deemed interests of BV Investment Holdings Ltd arise from their interests in BV Singapore Holdings Ltd.

Public Shareholders
Based on the information available to the Company as at 12 September 2014, approximately 37.60% of the issued shares of the 
Company is held by the public and therefore, pursuant to Rules 1207 and 723 of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited, it is confirmed that at least 10% of the ordinary shares of the Company is at all times held by the public. 

Treasury Shares
As at 12 September 2014, there are no treasury shares held.
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Financial Calendar

FY 2014

Financial year-end 30 June 2014
 Announcement of 2014 1Q results 5 November 2013
 Announcement of 2014 2Q results 10 February 2014
 Announcement of 2014 3Q results 14 May 2014
 Announcement of 2014 full year results 14 August 2014

Despatch of Annual Report to shareholders 10 October 2014

Annual General Meeting 28 October 2014

FY 2015

Financial year-end 30 June 2015
 Announcement of 2015 1Q results October/November 2014 
 Announcement of 2015 2Q results February 2015
 Announcement of 2015 3Q results May 2015
 Announcement of 2015 full year results August 2015
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Website: www.k1ventures.com.sg

SHARE REGISTRAR

B.A.C.S. Private Limited
63 Cantonment Road
Singapore 089758

AUDITORS
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NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of k1 Ventures Limited (the “Company”) will be held at Four Seasons 
Hotel, Four Seasons Ballroom (Level 2), 190 Orchard Boulevard, Singapore 248646 on Tuesday, 28 October 2014 at 2.30 p.m. to 
transact the following business:

As Ordinary Business

1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts for the year ended 30 June 2014.

2. To re-elect the following directors, each of whom will retire pursuant to Article 86 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association and who, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election pursuant to Article 87 
(see Note 2):

(a) Mr Steven Jay Green

(b) Assoc Prof Annie Koh

3. To re-appoint Dr Lee Suan Yew, who will cease to be a director at the conclusion of this Annual General 
Meeting in accordance with Section 153(2) of the Companies Act, Cap 50 of Singapore (“Companies 
Act”), and who, being eligible, offers himself for re-appointment pursuant to Section 153(6) of the 
Companies Act to hold office until the next Annual General Meeting of the Company (see Note 2).

4. To approve the remuneration of the directors of the Company for the financial year ended 30 June 
2014, comprising the following:

(a)      the payment of directors’ fees of S$321,000 in cash (2013: S$369,832) (see Note 3). 

(b) (1) the award of an aggregate number of 225,000 existing ordinary shares in the capital of the 
Company (the “Remuneration Shares”) to non-executive directors, namely Dr Lee Suan 
Yew, Mr Teo Soon Hoe, Mr Alexander Vahabzadeh, Prof Neo Boon Siong and Assoc Prof 
Annie Koh as payment in part of their respective remuneration for the financial year ended 
30 June 2014 as follows:

(i) 45,000 Remuneration Shares to Dr Lee Suan Yew;

(ii) 45,000 Remuneration Shares to Mr Teo Soon Hoe;

(iii) 45,000 Remuneration Shares to Mr Alexander Vahabzadeh; 

(iv) 45,000 Remuneration Shares to Prof Neo Boon Siong; and

(v) 45,000 Remuneration Shares to Assoc Prof Annie Koh;

 (2) the directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to instruct a third party agency 
to purchase from the market 225,000 existing shares at such price as the directors may 
deem fit and deliver the Remuneration Shares to each non-executive director in the manner 
as set out in (1) above; and

 (3) any director or the Company Secretary be authorised to do all things necessary or desirable 
to give effect to the above (see Note 4).

 

Resolution 1

Resolution 2(a)

Resolution 3

Resolution 4

Resolution 2(b)

k1 Ventures Limited
Co. Reg. No. 197000535W
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
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5. To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as auditors of the Company for the financial year ending 
30 June 2015, and to authorise the directors to fix their remuneration.

As Special Business

To consider and, if thought fit, approve with or without modification, the following resolutions as Ordinary 
Resolutions:

6. That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Rule 806 of the listing manual (the “Listing Manual”) 
of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and Article 5 of the Company’s Articles 
of Association, authority be and is hereby given to the directors of the Company to:

(a) (1) issue shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”), whether by way of rights, bonus 
or otherwise, and including any capitalisation pursuant to Article 137 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association of any sum for the time being standing to the credit of any of the 
Company’s reserve accounts or any sum standing to the credit of the profit and loss 
account or otherwise available for distribution; and/or

 (2) make or grant offers, agreements or options that might or would require Shares to be issued 
(including but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, 
debentures or other instruments convertible into Shares) (collectively “Instruments”),

 at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as 
the directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit; and

(b) (notwithstanding that the authority so conferred by this Resolution may have ceased to be in 
force) issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the directors while the 
authority was in force;

 provided that:

(i) the aggregate number of Shares to be issued pursuant to this Resolution (including Shares to 
be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution and any 
adjustment effected under any relevant Instrument) shall not exceed 50 per cent. of the total 
number of issued Shares (excluding treasury Shares) (as calculated in accordance with sub-
paragraph (ii) below), of which the aggregate number of Shares to be issued other than on a 
pro rata basis to shareholders of the Company (including Shares to be issued in pursuance of 
Instruments made or granted pursuant to this Resolution and any adjustment effected under any 
relevant Instrument) shall not exceed 20 per cent. of the total number of issued Shares (excluding 
treasury Shares)(as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below);

(ii) (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST) for the purpose of 
determining the aggregate number of Shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (i) above, 
the percentage of issued Shares shall be calculated based on the total number of issued Shares 
(excluding treasury Shares) at the time this Resolution is passed, after adjusting for:

(I) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of convertible securities or share 
options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting as at the time this 
Resolution is passed; and

(II) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or sub-division of Shares;

(iii) in exercising the authority conferred by this Resolution, the Company shall comply with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST for the time being in force 
(unless such compliance has been waived by the SGX-ST) and the Articles of Association for the 
time being of the Company; and

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Resolution 5

Resolution 6
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(iv) (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting) the authority conferred by this 
Resolution shall continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the 
Company or the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by 
law to be held, whichever is the earlier (see Note 5).

7. That:

(a) approval be and is hereby given, for the purposes of Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-
ST (“Chapter 9”), for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies that are entities 
at risk (as that term is used in Chapter 9), or any of them, to enter into any of the transactions 
falling within the types of Interested Person Transactions described in Appendix 1 to this Notice of 
Annual General Meeting (“Appendix 1”), with any person who falls within the classes of Interested 
Persons described in Appendix 1, provided that such transactions are made on arm’s length basis 
and on normal commercial terms and in accordance with the review procedures for Interested 
Person Transactions as set out in Appendix 1 (the “Shareholders’ Mandate”);

(b) the Shareholders’ Mandate shall, unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, 
continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company or the 
date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, 
whichever is the earlier;

(c) the Audit Committee of the Company be and is hereby authorised to take such action as it 
deems proper in respect of such procedures and/or to modify or implement such procedures 
as may be necessary to take into consideration any amendment to Chapter 9 which may be 
prescribed by the SGX-ST from time to time; and

(d) the directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete and 
do all such acts and things (including, without limitation, executing all such documents as may 
be required) as they and/or he/she may consider expedient or necessary or in the interests of the 
Company to give effect to the Shareholders’ Mandate and/or this Resolution (see Note 6).

8. That:

(a) for the purposes of the Companies Act, the exercise by the directors of the Company of all the 
powers of the Company to purchase or otherwise acquire Shares not exceeding in aggregate the 
Maximum Limit (as hereafter defined), at such price(s) as may be determined by the directors of 
the Company from time to time up to the Maximum Price (as hereafter defined), whether by way 
of:

(1) market purchase(s) on the SGX-ST (each a “Market Purchase”); and/or

(2) off-market purchase(s) in accordance with any equal access scheme(s) as may be 
determined or formulated by the directors of the Company as they consider fit, which 
scheme(s) shall satisfy all the conditions prescribed by the Companies Act (each an “Off-
Market Purchase”);

 and otherwise in accordance with all other laws and regulations, including but not limited to, the 
provisions of the Companies Act and listing rules of the SGX-ST as may for the time being be 
applicable, be and is hereby authorised and approved generally and unconditionally (the “Share 
Buy-Back Mandate”);

Resolution 7

Resolution 8
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(b) unless varied or revoked by the members of the Company in a general meeting, the authority 
conferred on the directors of the Company pursuant to the Share Buy-Back Mandate may be 
exercised by the directors at any time and from time to time during the period commencing from 
the date of the passing of this Resolution and expiring on the earliest of:

(1) the date on which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is held; 

(2) the date by which the next Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to 
be held; or 

(3) the date on which the purchases or acquisitions of Shares by the Company pursuant to the 
Share Buy-Back Mandate are carried out to the full extent mandated;

 
(c) in this Resolution:

 “Average Closing Price” means the average of the closing market prices of a Share over the last 
five (5) consecutive Market Days (a “Market Day” being a day on which the SGX-ST is open for 
trading in securities), on which Shares are transacted on the SGX-ST: 

(1) in the case of Market Purchases, immediately preceding the date of Market Purchase by the 
Company; or

 
(2) in the case of Off-Market Purchases, immediately preceding the date on which the 

Company makes an announcement of its intention to make an offer for the purchase or 
acquisition of Shares from holders of Shares, stating therein the purchase price (which shall 
not be more than the Maximum Price) for each Share and the relevant terms of the equal 
access scheme for effecting the Off-Market Purchase,

 
 and deemed to be adjusted in accordance with the listing rules of the SGX-ST for any corporate 

action which occurs after the relevant five day period;

 “Maximum Limit” means that number of issued Shares representing 10 per cent. of the total 
number of issued Shares as at the date of the last Annual General Meeting or at the date of the 
passing of this Resolution whichever is higher unless the Company has effected a reduction of 
the share capital of the Company in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Companies 
Act, at any time during the Relevant Period (as hereafter defined), in which event the total number 
of issued Shares shall be taken to be the total number of issued Shares as altered (excluding any 
treasury Shares that may be held by the Company from time to time);

 “Maximum Price”, in relation to a Share to be purchased or acquired, means the purchase price 
(excluding brokerage, stamp duties, commission, applicable goods and services tax and other 
related expenses) which is:

(1) in the case of a Market Purchase, 105 per cent. of the Average Closing Price of the Shares; 
and

(2) in the case of an Off-Market Purchase pursuant to an equal access scheme, 120 per cent. 
of the Average Closing Price of the Shares;
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 “Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the date on which the last Annual General 
Meeting of the Company was held and expiring on the date the next Annual General Meeting of 
the Company is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier, after the date of this 
Resolution; and

(d) the directors of the Company and/or any of them be and are hereby authorised to complete 
and do all such acts and things (including without limitation, executing such documents as 
may be required) as they and/or he/she may consider necessary, expedient, incidental or in the 
interests of the Company to give effect to the transactions contemplated and/or authorised by 
this Resolution (see Note 7). 

  
To transact any other business which can be transacted at an Annual General Meeting of the Company.

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Winnie Mak
Company Secretary
Singapore, 10 October 2014
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Notes:
1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) is entitled to appoint not more than two proxies to attend and vote 

in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. The proxy form must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 1 HarbourFront 
Avenue, #18-01 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632, not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the AGM. A member of the Company which 
is a corporation is entitled to appoint its authorised representative or proxy to vote on its behalf.

2. Detailed information about these directors can be found in the “Board of Directors” and “Senior Management” sections of the Company’s Annual Report 2014. 

 Mr Steven Jay Green will upon re-election continue to serve as Chairman of the Board and executive director of the Company. 

 Assoc Prof Annie Koh will upon re-election continue to serve as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit Committee and will 
be considered independent.  

 Dr Lee Suan Yew will upon re-appointment continue to serve as the Chairman of the Nominating Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and 
will be considered independent.

3. The framework of directors’ fees is set out in the Company’s Corporate Governance Report on pages 25 and 26 of the Company’s Annual Report 2014. 

4. The proposed award of Remuneration Shares to the non-executive directors forms part of the ordinary remuneration of the non-executive directors for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2014, and is in addition to the proposed directors’ fees in cash referred to in Resolution 4. The Remuneration Shares to be awarded 
to the non-executive directors will rank pari passu with the then existing issued Shares at the time of the award. The non-executive directors will each, subject 
to shareholders’ approval, be awarded 45,000 Remuneration Shares as part of their remuneration for the financial year ended 30 June 2014. The non-executive 
directors will abstain from voting, and will procure that their respective associates shall abstain from voting, in respect of Resolution 4. 

5. Resolution 6 is to empower the directors from the date of the AGM until the date of the next AGM to issue Shares and Instruments in the Company, up to a 
number not exceeding 50% of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury Shares) (with a sub-limit of 20% of the total number of Shares (excluding treasury 
Shares) in respect of Shares to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to shareholders). For the purpose of determining the total number of Shares (excluding 
treasury Shares) that may be issued, the percentage of issued Shares shall be based on the total number of issued Shares (excluding treasury Shares) at the time 
that Resolution 6 is passed, after adjusting for (a) new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities, (b) new Shares arising from 
exercising share options or vesting of share awards which are outstanding or subsisting at the time that Resolution 6 is passed, and (c) any subsequent bonus issue, 
consolidation or sub-division of Shares.

6. Resolution 7 is to renew a mandate which was originally approved by shareholders on 23 June 1997 (last amended on 31 October 2007) and was last approved 
at the annual general meeting of the Company on 24 October 2013, allowing the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies to enter into transactions 
with interested persons as defined in Chapter 9 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST. Please refer to Appendix 1 to this Notice of AGM for details. 

7. Resolution 8 is to renew the Share Buy-Back Mandate, which was originally approved by shareholders on 30 April 1999 (last amended on 31 October 2006) and 
was last approved at the annual general meeting of the Company on 24 October 2013. Please refer to Appendix 2 to this Notice of AGM for details. 

Personal Data Privacy:
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote at the AGM and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of 
the Company (i) consents to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents or service providers) for the purpose of 
the processing, administration and analysis by the Company (or its agents or service providers) of proxies and representatives appointed for the AGM (including any 
adjournment thereof) and the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents relating to the AGM (including any adjournment 
thereof), and in order for the Company (or its agents or service providers) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines (collectively, 
the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents or 
service providers), the member has obtained the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by the Company (or 
its agents or service providers) of the personal data of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the 
Company in respect of any penalties, liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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I/We                                                                                                    (Name)                                              (NRIC/Passport/UEN Number)

of                                                                                                                                                                                                    (Address) 

being a member(s) of k1 Ventures Limited (the “Company”), hereby appoint:

and/or (delete as appropriate)

   

 

as my/our proxy/proxies to vote on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Four Seasons 

Hotel, Four Seasons Ballroom (Level 2), 190 Orchard Boulevard, Singapore 248646 on Tuesday, 28 October 2014 at 2.30 p.m., and 

at any adjournment thereof.  I/We direct my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Resolutions to be proposed at the Annual 

General Meeting as indicated hereunder. If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from 

voting at his/their discretion, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the Annual General Meeting and at any adjournment 

thereof.

* If you wish to exercise all your votes “For” or “Against” the relevant resolution, please tick (4) within the relevant box provided.  Alternatively, if you wish to 
exercise your votes for both “For” and “Against” the relevant resolution, please indicate the number of Shares in the boxes provided.

Dated this                day of                               2014

                                                                      

Signature(s) or Common Seal of Member(s)

IMPORTANT: Please read the notes overleaf before completing this Proxy Form.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Proxy Form

IMPORTANT

CPF Investors

1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy k1 Ventures Limited’s shares, 
this Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF Approved 
Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective for all 
intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them. 

3. CPF Investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as observers have 
to submit their requests through their CPF Approved Nominees so that their CPF 
Approved Nominees may register, within the specified timeframe, with k1 Ventures 
Limited’s Share Registrar. (CPF Approved Nominees: please refer to Note No. 7 below 
on the reverse side of this form for the required details)

4. CPF investors who wish to vote must submit their voting instructions to their CPF 
Approved Nominees to enable them to vote on their behalf.

Personal Data Privacy
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s), the 
member accepts and agrees to the personal data privacy terms set out in the Notice of 
Annual General Meeting dated 10 October 2014.

Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares     %

NRIC/
Passport Number

Name Address
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 Ordinary Business

 1. Adoption of Directors’ Report and Audited Accounts

 2(a). Re-election of Mr Steven Jay Green as director

 2(b). Re-election of Assoc Prof Annie Koh as director

 3. Re-appointment of Dr Lee Suan Yew as director

 4. Approval of remuneration to directors comprising payment of directors’ 
fees and award of Remuneration Shares

 5. Re-appointment of Auditors

 Special Business

 6. Authority to issue shares and convertible instruments

 7. To approve the proposed renewal of the Shareholders’ Mandate for 
Interested Person Transactions

 8. To approve the proposed renewal of the Share Buy-Back Mandate

Resolutions
Number of Votes 

For *
Number of Votes 

Against *
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k1 Ventures Limited
Co. Reg. No. 197000535W
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

Proportion of Shareholdings

No. of Shares     %

NRIC/
Passport Number

Name Address

Total Number of 
Shares held



Notes:

1. Please insert the total number of shares of the Company (“Shares”) held by you.  If you have Shares entered against your name 
in the Depository Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), you should insert that 
number of Shares. If you only have Shares registered in your name in the Register of Members of the Company, you should insert 
that number of Shares. However, if you have Shares entered against your name in the Depository Register and Shares registered 
in your name in the Register of Members, you should insert the aggregate number of Shares entered against your name in the 
Depository Register and registered in your name in the Register of Members.  If no number is inserted, the instrument appointing 
a proxy or proxies shall be deemed to relate to all of the Shares held by you.

2. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at a meeting of the Company is entitled to appoint not more than two 
proxies to attend and vote instead of him. A proxy need not be a member of the Company. Where a member of the Company 
appoints two proxies, the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be represented by each proxy shall be specified in the 
proxy form. If no percentage is specified, the first named proxy shall be deemed to represent 100 per cent. of the shareholding 
and the second named proxy shall be deemed to be an alternate to the first named proxy.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 1 HarbourFront 
Avenue, #18-01 Keppel Bay Tower, Singapore 098632 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Annual General 
Meeting.

The Company Secretary
k1 Ventures Limited

1 HarbourFront Avenue
#18-01 Keppel Bay Tower

Singapore 098632

4. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in 
writing. Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed either under its seal 
or under the hand of its officer or attorney duly authorised in writing.  Where an instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf 
of the appointor by an attorney, the power of attorney or other authority or a duly certified copy thereof shall (failing previous 
registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

5. A corporation which is a member of the Company may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body, such 
person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with Section 179 of the Companies 
Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

6. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed 
or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified 
in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies.  In addition, in the case of members of the Company whose Shares are entered 
against their names in the Depository Register, the Company shall reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged if 
such members are not shown to have Shares entered against their names in the Depository Register 48 hours before the time 
appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

7. CPF Approved Nominees acting on the request of CPF investors who wish to attend the Annual General Meeting as observers 
are required to submit in writing, a list with details of the CPF investors’ name, NRIC/Passport numbers, addresses and number 
of shares held. The list, signed by an authorised signatory of the CPF Approved Nominee, has to reach the Company’s Share 
Registrar, B.A.C.S. Private Limited at 63 Cantonment Road, Singapore 089758 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed 
for holding the Annual General Meeting. 
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